INTEGRATING DEI STRATEGIES INTO TALENT ACQUISITION TO RECRUIT AND RETAIN WOMEN OF COLOR IN INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

by

Mia Rai Trahan

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

October, 2023

ABSTRACT

This study investigates the perceptions of hiring teams and women of color (WOC) in the Information Technology (IT) industry about diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) in talent acquisition practices. While many organizations advocate for DEI, the IT industry shows a notably disproportionate representation of WOC. The research utilized a qualitative approach to incorporate the viewpoints of 12 hiring professionals and 12 WOC from the IT field to uncover recruitment strategies to enhance DEI for WOC in technology positions. Data were collected through virtual interviews and analyzed using thematic analysis. The study reveals a positive correlation between DEI initiatives and elevated levels of innovation and productivity within organizations. However, challenges like unconscious and conscious biases and the low representation of WOC hinder DEI effectiveness. The study recommends routine DEI evaluations, building relationships with diversity-focused organizations, and starting mentorship programs for WOC. In underscoring the benefits, the study emphasizes the need for organizations to actively reduce bias in their recruitment process. The study concludes that a comprehensive DEI approach is essential for enriching the candidate pool and providing benefits to organizations, their management, and their workforce. It goes beyond the scope of merely hiring DEI specialists, advocating for an organizational strategy that fully integrates DEI objectives.

Keywords: Diversity, equity, inclusion, talent acquisition, women of color

Dedication

To God for giving me strength and wisdom when I needed it most; my parents and granny, who made me who I am; and my family, friends, and my coach, who never let me walk alone.

Acknowledgments

I express my deepest gratitude to the following people who helped me along this journey:

Family and Friends:

Your unwavering support and encouragement have been invaluable. Your resilience served as a catalyst for my perseverance, especially when I couldn't see the light at the end of the tunnel.

Mentors and Coach:

Your emotional sustenance and practical guidance carried me through so many hopeless moments. You held me accountable and inspired me to keep going even when I lost faith in myself.

Academic Advisors and Professors:

Thank you for your scholarly guidance, prayers, and consistent encouragement. You helped transform this dissertation into an academic work I am proud to call my own.

Study Participants:

This research would not be complete without your participation. My heartfelt appreciation goes to each of you for contributing to this work.

God:

Thank you for your mercy, grace, and love. Your Word, especially Jeremiah 29:11, was a guiding light during my darkest periods. Thank you for fortifying me when I was on the verge of losing hope.

This work is a testament to the collective love, faith, and support of each of you. Thank you from the bottom of my heart. We did it!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY	1
Introduction	1
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	9
Research Questions	9
Theoretical Foundations of the Study	10
Definition of Terms	14
Significance of the Study	14
Summary	15
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	16
Overview	16
Description of Search Strategy	16
Review of Literature	17
Overview of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion	17
Benefits of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion	
Women of Color in The information Technology Industry	
Diversity management Challenges in organizations	
Addressing Diversity Challenges	
Increasing Women of Color in IT	
Biblical Foundations of the Study	
Summary	50
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD	52
Overview	52
Research Questions	52
Research Design	52
Participants	54
Study Procedures	56
Instrumentation and Measurement	57
Data Analysis	57
Ethical Procedures	58
Summary	59

CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS	60
Overview	60
Participants	60
Results	
Theme Development	
Summary	
CHAPTER 5: RESEARCH METHOD	86
Interpretation of the Findings	
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Recommendations for Practice	
Implications	
Implications for Policy and positive social change	
Theoretical Implications	
Conclusion	
APPENDIX A: RECRUITMENT FLYER	
APPENDIX B: CONSENT FORM	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

Introduction

The underrepresentation of WOC in the Information Technology (IT) sector is a global concern that affects workplace diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI). Globalization has shifted workplace dynamics, especially related to employee recruitment, as it is no longer confined within borders but has a global reach (Alvarez et al., 2020). This issue is a key concern for stakeholders and researchers. Increasing globalization has sharpened the focus on work dynamics and made equitable talent sourcing crucial (Ash & Boyce, 2018). DEI practices primarily address the underrepresentation of racial and ethnic groups in workplace settings (Ash & Boyce, 2018). The primary focus of DEI practices is addressing the underrepresentation of racial and ethnic groups in workplace settings the organization, DEI plays a crucial role in societal upliftment by ensuring equal access to economically rewarding occupations. This study explores strategies for integrating DEI into talent acquisition to recruit and retain WOC in the IT sector.

Societally, DEI aims to remove barriers to participation in economically rewarding occupations that create wealth for everyone with no racial or ethnic preference (Alvarez et al., 2020). At the professional level, DEI calls for employers to recruit employees from different backgrounds with varying demographic compositions to fulfill organizations' corporate social responsibility to the community (Ash & Boyce, 2018). Additionally, concerning benefits, research has linked organizational performance, motivation, and innovation to DEI and the diverse views, skills, and competencies available to foster growth in different areas (Ballard et al., 2020). The underrepresentation of people of color in the IT sector contributes to the lack of DEI in the workplace, including limited role models to inspire future generations (Alvarez et al.,

2020). As Ash and Boyce (2018) indicate, the path to achieving organizational goals in IT hinges on understanding how to attract, recruit, and retain talent from marginalized groups and leveraging their distinct sociodemographic attributes. According to Burt et al. (2019a), the current research has inadequately addressed the DEI of WOC in technology, where they remain underrepresented compared to their White counterparts. This study explores strategies for integrating DEI into talent acquisition to recruit and retain WOC in the IT sector.

Background

The State of Diversity in IT

Different settings give different dimensions to workplace DEI (Armstrong et al., 2018). The two common forms of diversity crucial to the proposed study include racial and ethnic underrepresentation of employees in the workplace (Burt et al., 2019a).

Research shows that the IT sector has become a significant source of financial growth, greatly influencing the US and other economies globally (Armstrong et al., 2018). The IT industry has impacted how people interact with and access information, disperse products or services, and address critical societal problems (Alvarez et al., 2020). Because this market is the resource for a rising variety of tasks, stakeholders need to understand the key emerging trends for sustainability (Ash & Boyce, 2018). Cain (2021) noted that leaders must guarantee a steady supply of diverse employees with competitive skills and competencies from diverse backgrounds to achieve workplace diversity goals, such as workplace inclusivity.

The Glass Ceiling Effect

There is a significant deficiency of women and WOC in technology. According to a National Center for Women and information Technology (NCWIT) study, in 2021, 26% of computing roles in the US were held by women. White women held 14% of the computer-focused roles, Black or African-American women comprised 3% of the computing workforce,

and Asian or Pacific Islander women comprised 7%. Hispanic or Latina women made up 2% of the computing workforce. The representation of women in the computing industry has shown little to no growth since 2007, staying around 25% for 14 years (Tedrick, 2020). However, WOC has slowly increased since 2007.

The growth between Black and Latina/Hispanic women remained stagnant (Tedrick, 2020). However, Asian or Pacific Islander women have increased by 3% over the last fourteen years (Tedrick, 2020). The lack of representation of WOC in technology can interfere with an organization's ability to recruit and hire quality women from diverse backgrounds (Tedrick, 2020). During the recruitment process, potential candidates can recognize and comprehend the existence of a glass ceiling. Candidates can observe that they are not reflected in this hierarchy by examining leadership teams. Glass ceilings in an organization are likely to form barriers to the appointment and equal representation of WOC in top leadership positions in an organization based on their race and gender. Glass ceilings are "invisible" barriers or obstacles that women and marginalized groups encounter when trying to develop their careers (Uysal & Ak, 2020). Representation of women and people of color is high at lower organizational levels but decreases at higher levels. Women and people of color are overlooked or surpassed for leadership positions, with men dominating executive and leadership positions (Uysal & Ak, 2020). According to Uysal and Ak (2020), women and people of color encounter glass ceilings because of systemic barriers such as recruitment, retention, and promotion; stereotypes in ideal leadership styles are another barrier. Diversity in an organization has proven to enhance employee productivity. For example, Luanglath et al. (2019) investigated the impact of gender diversity on productivity in a study that surveyed 172 organizations on the Australian Securities Exchange. In their study, Luanglath et al. (2019) found that having diverse management in terms of gender

enhanced organizational productivity and developed a strong positive relationship between the management and employees. Similarly, Delgado-Pina et al. (2020) examined the impacts of gender diversity in Spanish Banks using a sample larger than Luanglath et al. (2019). Analyzing the collected data, Delgado-Pina et al. (2020) established that including women in managerial positions enhanced employee relationships and improved performance in different strata and productivity.

The Impact of Diversity on Productivity

Analyzing responses from 511 participants in the United Arab Emirates, Chaudhry et al. (2021) posted results that mirrored those of Delgado-Pina et al. (2020) and Luanglath et al. (2019), where diversity improved organizational productivity by encouraging employee innovation. The results above indicate a positive relationship between organizational productivity and diversity. According to Luanglath et al. (2019) and Delgado-Pina et al. (2020), incorporating women in managerial positions allowed them to share their knowledge of organizational performance and efficiency with their male counterparts. In addition, Delgado-Pina et al. (2020) showed that women in managerial positions increased their representation and motivated women in subsidiary positions to improve their performance, which positively reflected organizational productivity. Even though Chaudhry et al. (2021) did not study diversity in gender, they found that organizations that encouraged or employed people from different backgrounds improved efficiency. According to Chaudhry et al. (2021), promoting diversity increases performance and innovation. Particularly, Chaudhry et al. (2021) explained that having employees with diverse backgrounds enhanced the sharing of unique ideas and new ways of doing things, which translated to positive organizational productivity.

Gap in the Literature

Despite the demonstrated benefits of DEI in the workplace, a gap exists in the current body of literature. Research has inadequately addressed strategies specifically aimed at promoting and supporting the inclusion of WOC within the IT sector (Ballard et al., 2020; Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018). This underrepresentation continues to persist, particularly for Black women. This study aims to fill the gap by exploring strategies to enhance DEI for WOC in the IT sector. This research contributes valuable insights to the existing literature and provides practical recommendations for organizations seeking to enhance their DEI practices, aiming to foster a more diverse and inclusive IT industry.

Biblical Worldview

Workplace DEI has different dimensions based on the settings of discussion (Armstrong et al., 2018). Although diversity has multiple facets, racial and ethnic underrepresentation stand out as significant concerns in the scope of this study (Burt et al., 2019a).

A diverse, equitable, and inclusive workforce should not be merely a metric for an organization to achieve; instead, DEI should be a top priority and an integral part of the business strategy. An organizational culture enriched by these elements nurtures engagement, productivity, and competitiveness and enhances women's attraction, development, and retention (Mulki & Stone-Sabali, 2021).

In 1 Corinthians 12:12-14, Paul provides a biblical perspective on diversity and inclusion, portraying the Body of Christ as an entity of diverse individuals. These individuals, united in purpose and service, are analogous to the workforce of a successful organization. (*New Living Translation*, 2015). A company cannot survive without its greatest asset, the people. Paul's description reflects the vitality of diversity—driving innovation through different backgrounds, socioeconomic statuses, education levels, and skills.

Conversely, bias, conscious or unconscious, can hinder diversity. James taught Christians to observe and challenge conscious and unconscious biases by resisting favoritism, emphasizing not to discriminate because of misguided judgments (*New Living Translation*, 2015, James 2:1-4). God cherishes each creation; therefore, His followers should appreciate and accept each other despite superficial differences. He sent His Only Son to die for them despite their backgrounds (*New Living Translation*, 2015, John 3:16).

Christ, the quintessential leader, urged His followers to love God wholeheartedly and to extend this love to their neighbors (*New Living Translation*, 2015, Matthew 22: 37 - 40). This commandment encourages acceptance and connection, transcending differences and fostering diversity and inclusion. Thus, aligning organizational culture with these biblical principles lays a foundation for an inclusive and diverse environment. Embracing DEI in alignment with biblical teachings promotes a culture of belonging, nurtured through non-discriminatory hiring and advancement practices (Vickers, 2017).

Problem Statement

The rapid growth of opportunities in the IT sector necessitates an increased emphasis on DEI in the workforce (Armstrong et al., 2018). As an illustration, Cain (2021) reported that job openings in the IT sector are expanding at two times the nationwide average in the United States. These opportunities offer higher pay and are more resilient to financial recessions than other sectors. Ash and Boyce (2018) also noted that jobs in the industry have significant growth potential. Employees with unique skills and backgrounds are necessary for organizational success.

Consequently, employment trends in the high-technology sector are vital to the national economy and work expectations (Ballard et al., 2020). Despite the surge in job openings and the

acknowledged importance of a diverse workforce, WOC remains significantly underrepresented (Armstrong et al., 2018; Whitney & Taylor, 2018). For instance, according to the U.S. Census Bureau (2020), women only held 7% of science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) jobs in 1970. That number doubled to 14% in 1980. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (2022), while WOC college students report interest in STEM majors at an equivalent rate as students who are White women, they remain the least represented group in STEM. Women of color accounted for a small number of bachelor's degrees across STEM fields, with only 2.9% awarded to Black women, 3.6% to Latinas, and 4.8% to Asian women in 2014-2015, making Black women less likely to be hired for IT related jobs (The National Center for Education Statistics, 2022).

According to a 2022 study from the National Center for Women and IT (NCWIT), nearly 4.7 million technology jobs will open by 2030 in the United States. An online Fortune magazine article states that regarding race, current statistics indicate that organizations leave nearly 250,000 qualified WOC out of the technology industry (Black, Latina, and American Indian women) (Thier, 2022). According to Thier (2022), WOC are unrepresented in the technology industry, and promoting diversity in the technology industry could open nearly 2.6 million more WOC securing jobs in the technology industry. AnitaB.org (2021) reported that of 141,038 women in technology-related jobs in 2021, 79,163 (56%) were WOC. Engineering and computer science — two of the most lucrative STEM fields — remain heavily male-dominated. Only 21% of engineering majors and 19% of computer science majors are women. However, WOC who may lack a college degree in STEM and are interested in technology careers have gained technical skills through other avenues, such as technical boot camps and non-stem-related jobs that require technical skills. These opportunities provide them with applied

knowledge of their IT skills, making them more qualified than those with only a college degree and no on-the-job technology experience (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2021).

Despite significant underrepresentation, over 300,000 WOC possess the professional experience and technical competency required for technology roles (Thier, 2022). However, a limited search pool in tech companies often overlooks these highly qualified candidates. By implementing a skills-based hiring approach, organizations can overcome the barriers of degree-centric hiring, broaden their talent pool, and incorporate diversity and inclusion more effectively (Fuller et al., 2022).

A diverse workforce brings diverse ideas that can improve organizational performance. Previous researchers have examined diversity and inclusion in the workplace from different settings and perspectives, particularly from a general perspective (Solomon et al., 2018; Whitney & Taylor, 2018). The study results have shown that people of color, particularly women, have been underrepresented in technology compared to their White counterparts. According to Varma (2018), WOC experience gender stereotypes and racism in the IT sector. Lack of diversity in the IT sector will likely affect companies' creativity, innovation, and performance (Alvarez et al., 2020). Alvarez et al. (2020) recommended additional research focused on recruiting and retaining people of color, especially women in the IT sector.

Despite years of affirmative action policies, people of color continue to be underrepresented in the IT sector, with limited research focused on the strategies used to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion of people of color in the IT sector (Alvarez et al., 2020; Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018). In response to this reality, the current literature offers several reasons for the underrepresentation of people of color in the IT sector, coupled with possible suggestions for improving the condition (Solomon et al., 2018). The existing literature insufficiently addresses hiring managers' and Women of Color (WOC) perceptions on how DEI affects talent acquisition in the IT industry. Therefore, this study aims to explore strategies that could enhance DEI and increase WOC representation in the technology sector (Alvarez et al., 2020; Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018; Solomon et al., 2018; Varma, 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to examine perceptions among IT industry professionals in the United States concerning recruitment and DEI. The study focused on specific strategies to enhance recruitment and candidate selection processes for WOC in technology roles. A total of 24 U.S.-based IT industry participants were included: 12 hiring professionals and 12 WOC.

Research Questions

RQ1: why does DEI matter in talent acquisition in the IT sector?

RQ2: what recruitment strategies are perceived as most effective by hiring managers in attracting WOC to IT roles?

RQ3: what are the common challenges hiring teams encounter when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector?

RQ4: what are the perceptions regarding the impact of DEI initiatives in improving and sustaining productive work cultures in the IT sector for WOC?

Assumptions and Limitations of the Study

The trustworthiness and credibility of this study hinge on the honesty and transparency of the participants' responses to interview questions. This study, therefore, assumes that all participants will provide sincere and trustworthy answers, recounting their experiences without undue influence from the investigator. Nevertheless, this study has several limitations that could impact its results and interpretation.

Limitations refer to a study's flaws/weaknesses and challenges beyond the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). However, it is essential to identify study limitations to allow readers and other scholars to consider the study results within the context of the limiting factors. The following limitations relate to the current study.

This is the first formal study to be conducted by the researcher. The researchers' skills may be limited when conducting interviews and data analysis. Another limitation relates to the researcher's novice skills. To address this limitation, the researcher will consult experts in data analysis. Additionally, the researcher may consider training in research methods to boost skills, including structuring questionnaires and analyzing data using statistical software.

The last limitation is researcher bias. In qualitative studies, researcher bias occurs when the researcher fails to acknowledge the personal link to the study or preconceived preconceptions and experiences (Patton, 2014). In this study, research bias could limit the credibility of the findings. Bracketing will be used to mitigate researcher bias, which entails researching personal interests and preconceptions about DEI in the IT sector.

Theoretical Foundations of the Study

Intersectionality theory is deeply grounded in Black feminists' scholarship (Acuff, 2018). Crenshaw (1990) initially coined the term intersectionality. This was after the author started investigating friends and described the lived realities of oppressed individuals, focusing on unique experiences among WOC (Crenshaw, 2018). The intersectionality framework analyzes the overlapping factors that could lead to discrimination or biased actions toward a group of people. For instance, being a woman and a person of color are intersecting identities and must be considered when analyzing marginalized groups. For instance, Sojourner Truth explores the intersessions of race and gender in her famous speech *Ain't I a Woman*? Presented in the 1851 women's convention in Ohio is one of the earliest references to the intersectionality perspective. Truth made a formal submission during the speech, challenging the perception that being a woman (gender) and Black (race) were mutually exclusive (Crenshaw, 2018). Since then, intersectionality has become synonymous with studies about women and among feminists' legal scholars (Crenshaw, 2018; Keuchenius & Mügge, 2021). The concept has been integrated into fields such as psychology, interdisciplinary fields, and gender studies (Crenshaw, 2018).

The intersectionality theory acknowledges how racial and gender oppression is still experienced (Keuchenius & Mügge, 2021). Crenshaw (2018) conceptualized intersectionality as a theoretical framework based on the premise that individuals' social categories of race, ethnicity, social status, and gender mutually intersect with individuals' lives to reflect different multiples (Crenshaw, 2018). The interlocking systems of privilege and oppression are due to socio-structural racism and sexism (Crenshaw, 2018; Rodó-de-Zárate & Baylina, 2018). With time, the concept of intersectionality evolved. By the 1980s, intersectionality attention was focused on the dynamics of differences and sameness of anti-discrimination movements (Crenshaw, 2018). This focus revolutionized and created a new perspective of a sense of belongingness to a given group (Crenshaw, 2018).

Crenshaw (2018) identified three forms of intersectionality: 1) structural, 2) political, and 3) representational intersectionality. Structural intersectionality relates to how classism, sexism, and racism intersect and oppress minority women while at the same time molding their lived experiences in different ways (Crenshaw, 2018). Crenshaw (2018) used structural intersectionality to study sexually abused women. Crenshaw (2018) used intersectionality theory to describe the multi-layered oppressions that minority women encounter in society.

The second form of intersectionality is political intersectionality, highlighting two major conflicting systems segregating WOC and other women into two distinct groups (Crenshaw, 2018). The experiences encountered by WOC differ considerably from those witnessed by White women attributed to race (Rodó-de-Zárate & Baylina, 2018).

Representational intersectionality is the third form of intersectionality theory. Representational intersectionality focuses on advocating for creating an image supporting WOC (Rodó-de-Zárate & Baylina, 2018). Crenshaw (2018) used women's representational intersectionality to undermine racists in representation. In addition, Crenshaw (2018) used this concept to underscore the benefit of representational intersectionalities, such as having marginalized women represented in different fields, such as media and contemporary writings.

Application of Intersectionality Theory to Current Study

For this proposed study, intersectionality theory serves as the primary foundation for exploring the lived experiences of minority women in the technology sector and how gender and race intersect to form diversity-related barriers. Several studies have established that individual identity, including race and gender, provides insights into different barriers affecting a minority's career growth (Crenshaw, 2018; Rodó-de-Zárate & Baylina, 2018). Scholars have called for additional research in this area to investigate how the intersectionality of gender and race influences minorities' workplace experiences in different fields (Bastos et al., 2018; Rodóde-Zárate & Baylina, 2018). The concept of multiple identities will be used in this study. Multiple identities underscore multiple identities and systemic discrimination resulting from their identities that block minorities from realizing equal opportunities in the workplace (Crenshaw, 2018). In this regard, intersectionality theory applies to this study because it acknowledges the systemic definition of minorities in the workplace and how gender and race create career growth barriers to workplace diversity. Therefore, this study will use the theory to formulate research questions exploring how gender and race act as diversity barriers for minority women in the technology sector.

Social Cognitive Theory

Another theory used in this study is social cognitive theory. The social cognitive theory explains how diversity can result in adverse outcomes in a group or organization. Social cognitive theory suggests that people use categorization to simplify and cope with large amounts of information (Bandura, 2011). In this study, Social cognitive theory is used to understand the negative experiences of WOC in the technology sector due to the lack of diversity in the workplace.

Biblical Perspective

God created people in His Image; therefore, when anyone is excluded or rejected due to their differences, God is rejected (*New International Version*, 2015, Genesis 1:26-27; Galatians 3:28). Inclusivity is a part of God's will for humanity and was reiterated when Jesus explained the importance of the first commandment, that people are to love God with all of their heart, soul, and mind. He stated that the second commandment was just as significant: People should love their neighbors just as they love themselves (*New International Version*, 2015, John 13:34). When people in the hiring process learn to see differences and celebrate them instead of judging them, they will be able to create teams that outperform others in various ways because of the increased diversity of thought. Suppose IT companies build their values around Galatians 5:22-23. In that case, they will increase DEI by fostering an environment of belonging through showing love, spreading joy, encouraging peace, extending patience, displaying kindness, demonstrating goodness, exhibiting faithfulness, being gentle, and maintaining self-control (*New International Version*, 2015).

Definition of Terms

The following terms apply to this study:

Concrete Ceiling: is the "perceived, impervious barrier that qualified WOC cannot access or are given an opportunity or consideration for advancement" (Thomas & Love, 2014, p. 1).

Diversity: the state of having people who are of different races or who have different cultures in a group or organization (Alvarez et al., 2020).

Glass Ceiling: an intangible barrier experienced by women and persons of a racial minority, which inhibits the ability of these groups to gain promotion into leadership positions (Morgenroth et al., 2020).

Women of Color: a woman who identifies as a race or ethnicity other than White, such as Black, African-American, Hispanic, Latina, Native American, Asian, or Pacific Islander (Tedric, 2020).

Significance of the Study

The literature review reveals a knowledge gap whereby the current literature has inadequately addressed the DEI of WOC in the IT industry, where they remain underrepresented compared to their White counterparts. This study seeks to address the current gap in the literature by exploring strategies used to promote the DEI of people of color in the IT sector. The study findings will have several practical implications. For instance, the study findings may improve diversity practices in the IT industry by providing stakeholders and managers with valuable information on barriers and facilitators influencing the recruitment and retention of people of color in the workplace, especially WOC. The results may also promote policy changes by using the study results to implement diversity policies that promote equal opportunities for employees from different racial backgrounds during recruitment, promotion, and retention in the IT sector.

Theoretically, the study will contribute to intersectionality and social learning theory by identifying factors contributing to the underrepresentation of WOC in the IT sector, a field not often explored by researchers. Race and gender are the primary building blocks for the intersectionality theory that seeks to explain the underrepresentation of WOC in the workplace.

Summary

The study confronts the problem that, despite existing research on workplace DEI, the representation of WOC of color in the IT sector has insufficient attention. This study aims to fill this literature gap by delving into strategies that bolster the diversity, equity, and inclusion of women of color in the information technology sector. The findings could offer valuable insights into achieving diversity objectives within the workplace.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

Diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) are pivotal for organizational success (Meyenburg & Selmanovic, 2020). Corporate leaders increasingly emphasize embracing and promoting diversity by attracting employees from different demographic backgrounds (Vickers, 2019). Although several studies have examined DEI in the workplace, minimal research exists on effective strategies for recruiting women of color (WOC) in the technology sector (Meyenburg & Selmanovic, 2020). Several researchers have identified a page in the literature and recommended additional research focused on recruiting and retaining WOC in STEM fields despite their recent progress in pursuing STEM subjects compared to other races, leading to their underrepresentation in the workplace (Meyenburg & Selmanovic, 2020). The present study addressed this gap, shedding light on strategies to recruit and retain WOC in STEM fields. This qualitative, descriptive study bridges the research gap by exploring talent acquisition strategies and explore WOC's challenges in recruitment practices for IT roles. Chapter 2 reviews the current literature on the DEI of WOC in the IT sector.

Description of Search Strategy

A systematic literature search strategy retrieved and obtained sources relevant to the current study from the Liberty University online library. The databases search included PubMed, ResearchGate, JSTOR, EBSCO, Google Scholar, ScienceDirect, and Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ). The keywords or terms used to search the databases included diversity, diversity inclusion, workplace fairness, WOC, IT diversity, addressing diversity, diversity challenges, biblical views on diversity and equity, and biblical views regarding diversity. A qualitative, descriptive research methodology guided this literature review. The scope was limited to sources published from 2018 onward.

Review of Literature

Overview of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Diversity has become a business imperative over the past three decades. Small and multidimensional business leaders embrace DEI as their sustainable strategy in a highly dynamic environment (Vickers, 2019). Numerous scholars recommend diversity strategies in recruitment to achieve organizational goals (Yang & Carroll, 2018). Understanding DEI is crucial for business leaders aiming to create inclusive work environments that harness diversity for organizational success. This section presents an introductory overview of DEI, laying the foundation for the detailed exploration that follows.

To conceptualize the concepts of DEI in the workplace, having an in-depth understanding of its definitions is critical. Scholars have defined diversity differently (Shore et al., 2018). While several definitions exist, it is paramount to underscore no universally accepted definition for DEI (Whitney & Taylor, 2018). As elucidated by Varma (2018), diversity and its definition are context-based. In this regard, the definition adopted is based on how diversity is applied. The chosen definition for this study is from Vickers (2019), who describes diversity as the acknowledgment and integration of various demographic backgrounds.

Shore et al. (2018) linked diversity leadership directly to the success of diversity practices, describing it as how people and groups interact in the workplace amid demographic differences.

Understanding DEI requires a look at its historical roots, dating back to the early 1990s (Jonsen et al., 2021). This was the time in history when race and gender played a vital role in

shaping US economic and social ideologies (Syed & Ozbilgin, 2019). Consequently, such widespread differences in perceptions towards diversity in political, social, and economic sectors manifested in different behaviors designed to challenge White people's superiority (Syed & Ozbilgin). Despite these challenges, while diverse views were accepted and tolerated by leaders from diverse backgrounds, people of color have remained underrepresented in key economic aspects (Jonsen et al., 2021). Discrimination against WOC has persisted in critical economic, political, and social decisions, including recruitment and retention (Syed & Ozbilgin).

Several instances in history have affected WOC's recruitment and retention. One of the historical instances in World War II played an important role in heightening the need for production workers and the desire for favorable recruitment policies to recruit African Americans in different sectors (Syed & Ozbilgin, 2019). However, after being recruited by some production companies, some challenges related to racism, discrimination, and stereotypes against African Americans (Nkomo et al., 2019). Since then, the need to manage the informal workplace devoid of racism, discrimination, and stereotypes has become an issue of concern among stakeholders (Syed & Ozbilgin). This led to civil rights movements emerging and championing the rights of Black people (Nkomo et al.).

The movement advocated for equity in recruitment procedures (Nkomo et al., 2019). In addition, the Civil Rights Movement called for an end to discriminative workplace policies that which inequality favored the White people. Since then, the concept of diversity has continued to evolve, integrating several other policies (Syed & Ozbilgin, 2019). Among them are equity and inclusion. In order to survive in the global market, organizational leaders are emboldened to practice DEI in their workplace. DEI has evolved significantly over time. Stakeholders now view DEI as essential for organizational success (Sequeria et al., 2019).

Benefits of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Enhanced Innovation and Creativity

Innovation and creativity are significant factors linked to diversity in the IT sector. In a quantitative study to investigate the impact of cultural diversity on the innovative performance of multinational companies (MNCs) using a sample of 161 strategic alliances established by 31 MNC subsidiaries, Elia et al. (2019) found that the impact of cultural diversity became positive when there was alliance in exchange of ideas from different cultural exploration activities in the organization. Effective problem-solving often involves working with others (Elia et al., 2019). Botella et al. (2019) affirmed these findings by examining gender diversity in STEM fields. They identified that technological companies with less gender diversity suffered from reduced innovation due to the limited scope of ideas. A gender-diverse workforce, they concluded, could stimulate innovation (Botella et al., 2019). Similarly, Bogers et al. (2018) found that employee knowledge diversity correlated positively with increased innovation and organizational openness.

Several studies on diversity, innovation, and creativity have shown that diversity contributes to innovation and improved performance in technology sector organizations. For example, in a quantitative study of 358 SMEs over 18 months, Verreynne et al. (2019) investigated innovation diversity and uncertainty in small and medium-sized tourism firms. Verreynne et al. (2019) added that organizations with diverse workforces could better mitigate the negative effects of business uncertainty, thereby enhancing creativity and productivity. Moreover, Williams (2019) synthesized data from 258 peer-reviewed articles, concluding that large technology companies often lack diversity, which hampers creativity and innovation. This has led stakeholders to push for improved workforce diversity (Williams, 2019). Concerning the importance of innovation and creativity regarding diversity in the technology sector, the studies reviewed thus far present evidence suggesting that most organizations that embrace diversity experienced more innovation and creativity in their service provision and improved performance.

Promotes Company Image

Positive employer branding in the IT sector is closely associated with workplace diversity. Tanwar and Kumar (2019) conducted a retrospective study investigating the employer brand, person-organization fit, and employer of choice regarding diversity status in the United States. The findings revealed that organizations with a positive attitude towards diversity had positive employer brands such as person-organization fit. The creative workforce attracted technology companies with diversity in workplace equity for both genders (Tanwar & Kumar, 2019). The above findings were also replicated in a quantitative study exploring the employer brand and its impact on the intention to join various organizations in the IT sector in India (Sharma & Prasad, 2018). A sample of 54 final-year placement coordinators studying in central state universities of India was used. Data collection was done through semi-structured interviews. After analyzing the results, scholars reported that organizations' diversity in terms of gender diversity, development opportunities, and reputation in improved workplace equity, acceptance, and belongingness led to the increased positive brand to potential creative and innovative talents (Sharma & Prasad, 2018).

Comparable findings to those reported by Sharma and Prasad (2018) were noted in another quantitative study of 619 participants on the role of employer brand equity in recruitment in the US (Banerjee et al., 2020). The study findings demonstrated that a solid corporate brand positively contributed to employer brand dimensions, such as the organization's diversity regarding culture and gender equity in the workplace, which fully mediated the association between employer brand and intention to apply (Banerjee et al., 2020). Tokes (2020) corroborated this by recruiting 200 employees from two banks in the Trincomalee District on the employer brand of software and IT companies. Results indicated a significant correlation between employer branding, diversity value, and employee retention in IT companies (Tokes, 2020).

Diverse Talent Pool

Further research has also linked diversity in the IT sector to a broader talent pool to select talented and innovative employees. For example, in a study examining gender diversity in the US construction industry leaders, Hickey and Cui (2020) found that certain industry subsets, represented by publicly promoted diversity, showed promising higher integration levels. However, some organizations lacked gender diversity in leadership culture and mission statements, which created a significant challenge in attracting a talented workforce (Hickey & Cui, 2020). Pena et al. (2018) extended these findings in their quantitative study of 68 peerreviewed articles on diversity by reporting that college programs have represented diversity in STEM subjects. However, the trend in diversity in terms of gender has dropped at professional levels in the technology industry. Lack of workplace diversity limits organizations' opportunities to attract and retain talented employees from diverse backgrounds (Pena et al., 2018). On the other hand, diversity and inclusion attracted a more talented and innovative workforce for companies that embraced talent diversity, increasing employer brand and enhancing productivity (Pena et al.).

The results reported by Penal et al. (2018) were replicated by Tamunomiebi and John-Eke (2020) on workplace diversity and reported that workforce diversity enhanced the existence of a large talent pool used for creativity and innovation in organizations. This diverse workforce enhanced productivity and excellent business performance (Tamunomiebi & John-Eke, 2020). Similar results to the findings reported by Tamunomiebi and John-Eke (2020) were also reported by Cohendet et al. (2021), who reported that diversity in organizations creates a broader and more diverse talent trajectory in which creativity and innovation are enhanced for increased productivity (Cohendet et al., 2021). Similar to Tamunomiebi and John-Eke (2020) and Cohendet et al. (2021), Gibbs et al. (2019) examined demographic diversity in teams and management strategies. They found that organizations' use of diversity and inclusion strategies attracted more talent and promoted diversity to signal the specific dimensions of diversity were relevant to organizations (Gibbs et al., 2019). Given the studies' findings, the researchers seem to concur that diversity in organizations attracts a more talented workforce because of their brand and reputations, particularly the IT organizations.

These studies consistently suggest that organizations that integrate diversity into their culture and mission statements tend to attract a more talented and innovative workforce. Gibbs et al. (2019) extended this understanding and recommended additional research on including WOC in STEM fields. They emphasized the need for studies focusing on diverse target populations better to comprehend the impact of diversity on talent attraction (Gibbs et al., 2019).

Women of Color (WOC) in The IT Industry

Racial and gender equity persist as divisive elements in the modern workplace. Varma (2018) identified diversity as a catalyst for corporate success. However, a gender and racial imbalance exists in most organizations, notably lacking equitable representation of WOC in various roles (Solomon et al., 2018). Vickers (2019) emphasized that the IT sector underrepresents WOC, often relegating them to lower-level roles due to discriminatory recruitment policies. The underrepresentation of WOC in such a sector discriminates against affirmative action principles (Pritchard et al., 2019). Recently, investors have become

increasingly aware of company recruitment practices and how such practices promote diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) (Murray & Loyd, 2021).

Several studies have provided an overview of WOC's representation in IT. From a general perspective, research conducted by the Pew research center in 2020 revealed that women are generally underrepresented in the IT sector, which continues to be dominated by other races and genders (Lala et al., 2020). The researcher found that White women make up nearly 34% of the workforce orce (Lala et al., 2020). Comparable results were reported in studies by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020), indicating that WOC were underrepresented in the technology sector. The survey found that WOC comprise only around 8% of women in the technology sector (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020). Such results are increasingly worrying, given the benefits linked to severity, inclusion, and equity in the workplace. Meyenburg and Selmanovic (2020) warned that such underrepresentation risks negative company images, reduced profits, and legal challenges.

As of 2019, women represented 29% of the workforce in technology, a slight increase from 26% in 2018 (Meyenburg & Selmanovic, 2020). Despite this progress, Mitchell et al. (2019) reported that WOC remain underrepresented, attributing the gap to racial and gender issues. Further research has also noted that it could take nearly 12 years before WOC realizes equal representation in the technology sector.

Further research has shown the widespread underrepresentation of WOC in the technology sector. In particular, Lala et al. (2020) reported that 49% of WOC in STEM-related jobs report discrimination during recruitment and hiring. Sixty-five percent noted that they were three times less likely to be recruited or considered for job openings, given the preference for White women (Lala et al., 2020). Comparable results were reported in a different survey by Jung

et al. (2019). In their survey, Jung et al. (2019) found that African Americans and Hispanic Americans with computer science or engineering majors were less likely to be recruited into technology roles than their White counterparts. Comparable results were also reported by Jonsen et al. (2021). Their findings indicated that nearly 39.5% of WOC considered gender and mental bias as the fundamental reason for not being recruited or offered promotion opportunities. The researchers also reported that 66.7% of WOC reported a lack of clear career paths in their current organizations, given the racial and gender stereotypes against them. Also, a 2019 study demonstrated that equally qualified women were 30% less likely to be considered for an interview for a role than a male counterpart (González et al., 2019). Further research needs to be done to determine how many of those women are of color, but the study supported a gender bias in technical recruiting.

McKinsey and Company projected that in 2028, gender and racial diversity could contribute around 28 trillion USD to the global economy. The projections are based on gender diversity benefits organizations, including promoting creativity and innovations. However, WOC remain underrepresented in the technology sector despite the promise of improved performance, informed decision-making, promoting a positive company image, increasing profitability, and reducing culture conflicts.

The US department of labor and statistics reported that WOC were vastly underrepresented in the technology sector compared to their White counterparts. Although nearly ten million WOC are employed in the US labor, only 11% are employed in the technology sector. The under-representation of WOC in the technology sector has become a significant concern among policymakers, corporate leaders, and other stakeholders. As per Jonsen et al. (2021), only 11.7% of all women employed with computing skills are WOC. Given the above studies, the findings indicate that the representation of WOC in the IT sector remains low despite a considerable increase among WOC working in the US labor market.

Gender Stereotype and Underrepresentation of Women in IT

WOC have increasingly faced challenges influencing their recruitment and retention in technology. One of the factors contributing to their underrepresentation in the technology sector is gender (Jonsen et al., 2021). Several researchers have conducted studies to explore the influence of gender stereotypes on the recruitment and retention of WOC in different sectors, including the IT space. As an illustration, Armstrong et al. (2018) conducted a qualitative study with seven WOC working in the US technology sector. The study explored the barriers to diversity regarding recruitment and retention of WOC in the IT sector (Armstrong et al., 2018). Participants took part in virtual interviews. After analyzing data, Armstrong et al. (2018) found that gender stereotypes characterizing WOC as inferior and unable to execute specific tasks were the major basis for the lack of DEI in the technology sector. The findings were replicated in a study conducted by Jung et al. (2019) in the US. In this study, 215 WOC working in different IT companies were interviewed regarding their perceptions of DEI in their current organizations. After analyzing data, the findings indicated that negative perceptions challenging the ability of Black women to perform certain tasks contributed to the lack of DEI in the technology sector, given that the majority were discriminated against during the recruitment and selection process (Jung et al., 2019).

These studies indicate that gender stereotypes are a key factor contributing to the lack of DEI in the technology sector (Armstrong et al., 2018; Jung et al., 2019). While Jonsen et al. (2021) extended Jung et al.'s (2019) findings, they recommended further research on strategies to promote DEI in the technology sector using a more diverse sample size, given that their

studies only focused on women from a general perspective. This becomes a significant gap in the literature that the current research seeks to address using up-to-date articles.

Over the years, the number of women in the technology industry has remained consistently low. As of 2018, despite accounting for 47% of all employed adults, only 25% have or work in computing or IT roles (Tedrick, 2020). Furthermore, the National Center for Women and IT (NCWIT) reported in 2015 that of the 25% of women working in the technological sector, Black and Hispanic women are 3% and 1%, respectively (White, 2021). However, in 2019, the NCWIT reported that since 2007, the representation of WOC in technology has remained stagnant at 25% (Tedrick, 2020).

Among the reasons women are underrepresented in the technology industry is gender stereotyping. Alfred et al. (2018) defined gender stereotypes as a generalized preconception about the characteristics and roles played by male or female persons. In a broader definition, it is differentiation in roles and activities regarding gender. Liberatore and Wagner (2020) reiterated that the male dominance in the IT sector and the notion that the field is masculine pushed many out of the profession. According to Liberatore and Wagner (2020), women lacked the technical confidence to compete effectively and fit in the IT world.

Further research has demonstrated that WOC are less engaged in the IT industry because the sector is male-oriented. In earlier studies, Liberatore and Wagner (2020) asserted that the STEM field has been predominantly male for decades, and women who have attempted in the field have experienced discrimination. To explain these sentiments, Mackinnon and O'Connell (2020) investigated the perception of stereotypes directed at women in STEM work. A qualitative sample of 300 female participants showed that women who ventured into the technology and STEM world described as masculine were considered bossy, demanding, and overly emotional, overshadowing their kinder and motherly side of a woman. Mackinnon and O'Connell (2020) explained that being perceived as bossy and emotionless because IT influences their identity and confidence in the community. Due to stereotyping, many women, especially in the minority group, became reluctant to make a career in IT or reveal their position in the technology field for fear of being discriminated against. Mackinnon and O'Connell (2020) built upon the works of Martin (2018) and Ellemers (2018) that due to gender stereotypes, organizations have failed to achieve diversity and set a ceiling on how women ought to behave, discouraging their involvement with IT.

Gender stereotype has widened the talent gap in the IT sector. Ellemers (2018), in a systematic review of the literature, established that gender stereotyping affected the potential and productivity of women, predominantly minority women in the IT sector. According to Ellemers (2018), women are evaluated negatively in resumes and reference letters, and experience increased negative reviews. Mitchell and Martin (2018) asserted that women, especially those from underrepresented groups, were evaluated differently from their male counterparts.

Corroborating these findings, Bendels et al. (2018), in an extensive review of 54 published journals, revealed that gender identity and racial affiliation negatively influenced women's approval of publications and authorship. This negative perception undermined the success of WOC in IT, contributing heavily to increased underrepresentation. Like Bendels et al. (2018), Gorbacheva et al. (2018) established that despite programs being implemented, increased gender stereotypes in IT have negatively impacted diversity. Lack of diversity in the IT field has resulted in an imbalance in the career due to the small number of women employed in the IT field.

Racism and Underrepresentation of Women of Color in IT

Structural racism is another critical factor contributing to the lack of DEI in the technology sector. Annabi and Lebovitz (2018) conducted a qualitative study to investigate perceptions of WOC towards the influence of racism in talent sourcing in the technology sector. Most participants noted that structural racism significantly impaired attracting and recruiting competitive talents, given that the existing recruitment policies are skewed toward White women (Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018). Annabi and Lebovitz's (2018) findings were also corroborated in a study by Alvarez et al. (2020). In their qualitative study of 312 WOC working in the technology sector on the barriers to achieving DEI in the workplace, Alvarez et al. (2020) found that racism limited its achievement. People from certain races were preferred for specific jobs (Alvarez et al., 2020). Both studies demonstrate that racism is a major factor that negatively influences companies' ability to attract diverse talents (Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018; Alvarez et al., 2020). The implication is that the recruitment process demonstrates an unconscious negative bias towards WOC.

As women are steadily advancing their careers in IT, structural racism has halted the advancement of WOC in science and IT (Wingfield, 2020). Wingfield (2020) revealed that despite being ambitious and hardworking, increased cases of racism and sexism hinder their advancement. Cary and Parker (2018) surveyed how racism affected the representation and career advancement of WOC in STEM jobs. According to Cary and Parker (2018), due to racism, many WOC failed to secure employment opportunities in IT organizations. Corneille et al. (2019) observed that despite articles and publications on the importance of diversity in the workplace, many organizations were still unwilling to hire WOC.

Corneille et al. (2019) and Cary and Parker (2018) agreed that many WOC had limited access to quality education and training besides limited work opportunities. Coming from lowincome neighborhoods, Rideau (2021) contended that WOC lacked access to quality education and training compared to their White counterparts. However, despite the limited access to education and training programs focused on technical careers, WOC found alternative ways to position themselves as qualified applicants through affordable technical programs and gaining technical experience in non-technical roles. However, their transferable skills and qualifications are overlooked due to a lack of traditional experience and education. Cary and Parker (2018) noted that perceived poor or low educational levels impacted WOC's advancement in IT and other science careers.

Many WOC are perceived as lacking the technical skills necessary to compete or perform effectively in the IT and STEM industries. Calaza et al. (2021) state that the effects of racism on WOC representation in science established that many women were viewed as incompetent and unreliable. According to Calava et al. (2021), being viewed as incompetent due to their skin affected the ability of these women to perform or even climb the leadership ladder. Corroborating with the findings of Calava et al. (2021), Kong et al. (2020) asserted that being discriminated against due to skin color negatively impacted the representation of Latina women in science editorial boards and other science-based fields and sectors. The effect of gender and racism on women's career advancement has also been studied by McGee (2018). Conducting qualitative research on how individual advancement in IT is influenced by gender and racism, McGee (2018) found that many women failed to advance in their careers just because they were female. According to McGee (2018), bias due to gender coupled with being a person of color compounded why many women failed to advance their careers in IT and underrepresentation in leadership positions.

Lack of Support and Underrepresentation of Women of Color

Besides gender stereotypes and structural racism, lack of support and mentorship has influenced the representation of women in IT. For instance, Wingfield (2020) reported that Black and Latina women are more ambitious and hardworking than their White counterparts; however, they failed to advance in their careers, especially in the IT field. According to Wingfield (2020), the limited number of qualified women in IT limits the support young women in the IT sector receive. Similar findings were reported by Alfred et al. (2018). They noted that due to discrimination, gender stereotypes, and racism, only a few minority women made it to the top and offered the necessary support to STEM female students.

Similar to Wingfield (2020), Alfred et al. (2018), when reviewing the literature on WOC support systems, discussed that mentoring programs specifically for WOC enhanced their participation in STEM and allowed them to fight for representation in STEM boards. Similar findings were reported by Liu et al. (2019). Despite the leaky pipeline of female professionals, the number of women graduating with STEM degrees has increased because of well-developed mentoring programs such as career-related and role-model mentoring programs.

Similar to Wingfield (2020), Washington and Roberts (2019) asserted that many WOC have the ambition, confidence, desire, and determination to succeed. However, despite the hard work, many WOC, compared to their White counterparts, lack structured support or lack people who would support them in their developmental journey, especially in tackling the representation of challenges. Smith (2018) established that despite their efforts to overcome racial and stereotyping challenges, the need for a mentor was imperative. However, as many WOC did not
fancy White mentors, the limited number of WOC in mentorship programs negatively affected their desire for a mentor from their minority groups. In other findings, Hyrynsalmi (2019) reiterated that the lack of such programs hindered the developmental process despite the significance of mentoring programs in advancing women's career advancement. Hyrynsalmi (2019) argued that women in STEM fields attributed their ability and success in changing careers to limited mentors and support staff. With their ambition, determination, and confidence to succeed, Hyrynsalmi (2019) explained that availing mentors to WOC would increase the number of women climbing the stairs of leadership in the IT sector.

Female mentors have increased the number of women in the IT sector and STEM courses. According to McHugh (2018), even though careers in IT have been associated with men, women have shown interest in joining the field. However, McHugh (2018) noted a lack of interest in IT for many women, especially WOC. Many WOC have attributed their failure to enroll in STEM courses and STEM-related careers to a lack of role models and mentors. Thomas et al. (2018) also asserted that the limited number of WOC in IT is due to a lack of mentors and role models. In a more recent study, Kricorian et al. (2020), in a systematic literature review, established that a lack of mentoring and role models discouraged WOC from enrolling in STEM and seeking employment in stem fields. Analyzing the findings of McHugh (2018), Thomas et al. (2018), and Kricorian et al. (2020), the availability of role models and mentors and role models helped WOC make technological decisions, tackle under-representation issues, and increase their chances of success in the IT sector.

Institutional Bias and Underrepresentation of Women of Color

Many WOC are underrepresented in IT due to institutional bias. Liu et al. (2019) stated that many WOC were underrepresented due to increased cases of bias and racism. According to Liu et al. (2019), while White people were favored because of their color, many WOC were discriminated against because of their skin tone. Notably, light-skinned WOC were favored over dark-skinned ones, reducing the number of women advancing to leadership positions. Similar results were posted by Mitchell and Martin (2018), who studied the role of institutional gender bias on WOC. Analyzing teacher ratings and scores in student evaluation tests, Mitchell and Martin (2018) found that male teachers scored more points in teaching evaluations than female teachers. This discrimination hampered the success and chances of women attaining leadership positions. Similarly, Mitchell and Martin (2018) observed that students of color were reported to score poorly on evaluation tests compared to their White counterparts.

Institutional bias against WOC has tainted their image with the corporate, which has hindered their progress and overall development. As discussed in the subsection on support and underrepresentation, it is arguable that cases of institutional discrimination are high because there are no people in leadership positions fighting for WOC. For instance, Washington and Roberts (2019) and Wingfield (2020) established that the many challenges and barriers faced by WOC, including bias cases, could be solved if they were well represented at the top. Therefore, based on this argument, Payton and Berki (2019) asserted that institutional discrimination and its adverse impacts on women could be addressed if WOC finds mentors and support from people who understand them. Consequently, addressing the negative impacts of institutional racism motivated the underrepresented population to improve their performance. Concurring with Payton and Berki's (2019) results, Kong et al. (2020) asserted that addressing the issue of gender bias positively influenced the representation of WOC. In other words, a work environment encouraging teamwork and diversity presented minority groups to improve their chances of getting a representative.

Overall, in the preceding discussion, the researcher has discussed some factors contributing to the underrepresentation of women, especially WOC. The discussion shows that increased institutional bias, lack of support, and racism contribute to poor performance and representation of WOC. According to Kong and colleagues, to increase the number of WOC in leadership positions, organizations needed to invest in education and training that would encourage female representation, adopt policies that would encourage and promote workplace policies, adopt federal policies on discrimination besides developing own laws to address institutional bias, especially those directed towards employees of color.

Diversity management Challenges in organizations

Language and Communication Barriers

Organizations have faced various challenges while embracing diversity in their workplace. One of the major challenges of diversity management is communication and language barriers. Several studies have investigated communication and language barriers as diversity management challenges facing organizations. In particular, Yanaprasart and Ludi (2018) noted that international universities face communication challenges in constructing and transmitting knowledge. According to Yanaprasart and Ludi (2018), multilingual academic and scientific programs face communication barriers in creating an inclusive environment in academic settings to cope with international mobility and language diversity.

Piller and Zhang (2020) also reported similar findings to those of Yanaprasart and Ludi (20180 that diversity was linked to language and communication obstacles, particularly during a

crisis or an emergency such as COVID-19, where professionals from different cultural and language backgrounds convened to find a solution for a specific problem that is currently facing the world (Piller & Zhang, 2020). For example, multilingual crisis communication emerged due to various ideas from diverse health experts from different medical organizations during the COVID-19 pandemic. The above studies demonstrate that diversity is faced with communication setbacks due to language disparity among individuals in a diverse workforce.

Comparable results to Piller and Zhang (2020) were reported by Lu et al. (2018) in a quantitative study of 48 culturally diverse teams in China. In addition, Lu et al. (2018) investigated culturally diverse teams and creativity. In their findings, Lu et al. (2018) reported that perceived intercultural diversity was negatively related to intercultural communication openness. The challenge of intercultural communication was because of language and cultural differences among individuals in a diverse organization's workforce. Such limitations in communication led to miscommunication of relevant ideas and opinions, which contributed to derailed performance in organizations (Lu et al., 2018). Morrison-Smith and Ruiz (2020) also conducted a quantitative study of 255 peer-reviewed articles on challenges and barriers to virtual teams' collaboration in the United States. Given the findings, Morrison-Smith and Ruiz (2020) concluded that virtual teams faced geographical, temporal, perceived, and communication barriers due to language and cultural diversity among team members (Morrison-Smith & Ruiz, 2020). In addition, cultural and language disparities led to miscommunication in the team, which negatively affected the work collaboration in the team (Morrison-Smith & Ruiz, 2020).

Other researchers have also presented empirical evidence on the relationship between communication barriers and organizational diversity management. For example, in a survey of 90 nurses from private and public hospitals in Romania, Cioplan (2020) examined communication barriers between medical teams in Romania. One of the barriers that emerged from data analysis was language and cultural diversity among medical team members, which made communication between team members and patients difficult because of differences in language and cultural diversity (Cioplan, 2020). However, although Cioplan (2020) extended earlier findings on the association between diversity and communication barriers, the researcher did not adopt a diverse sample size to generalize their findings. In addition, the study was limited to one demographic group and investigated diversity and communication barriers from a general perspective (Cioplan, 2020). In this regard, Cioplan (2020) advocated for additional studies using different target populations and large sample sizes with unique characteristics, such as gender, to understand the unique effects of communication barriers on organizational diversity. The present research addresses this gap.

Acceptance and Respect challenges

Previous research has also linked acceptance and respect to organizational diversity management challenges. For example, in a study investigating the prospects and challenges of workplace diversity in modern-day organizations in the United States, Cletus et al. (2018) reported that diversity promotes critical thinking, problem-solving, and employee professional skills. Additionally, diversity enables organizations to attract talent and improve corporate image and productivity (Cletus et al., 2018). However, Cletus et al. (2018) noted that diversity is faced with challenges such as hostility, disrespect, and discrimination that people with diverse backgrounds encounter in their workplaces (Cletus et al., 2018). Purnell and Fenkl (2019) extended these findings in their quantitative study of 26 nurses on transcultural diversity and healthcare in the United States. In their results, Purnell and Fenkl (2019) reported that people deserve respect and acceptance within their cultural framework and as individuals in organizations. Similar results to Purnell and Fenkl (2019) were also reported by Isaac et al. (2019). However, they noted that acceptance and respect for diversity and change among employees in the organization were challenging.

Acceptance and respect as a challenge to diversity management were also presented in research by Weech-Maldonado et al. (2018). They investigated hospital cultural competency as a systematic intervention for leadership diversity demonstration. In their findings, Weech-Maldonado et al. (2018) established that performance improvement was more significant in diversity leadership and strategic human resource management (Weech-Maldonado et al., 2018). The researcher also noted a significant improvement in individual-level competencies for diversity attitudes and implicit bias for blacks among the intervention hospital organizations (Wee-Maldonado et al., 2018). Hospitals with high individual competencies for diversity experienced improved performance (Wee-Maldonado et al., 2018). In a qualitative study of 58 teachers, Maican et al. (2019) investigated academic staff personality and technology acceptance for communication and collaboration applications. In their findings, Maican et al. (2019) reported that acceptance of a diversified communication medium for teaching enhanced work engagement through collaboration within a diverse workforce (Maican et al. 2019). However, a lack of acceptance of diversity led to poor work engagement among teachers in learning institutions (Maican et al., 2019).

Several authors corroborated the findings by Maican et al. (2019) on diversity acceptance and respect among individuals in the workforce. For instance, Nkomo et al. (2019) conceptualized diversity at a critical juncture in the United States. The investigators noted that diversity acceptance and respect for individuals with diverse cultural and professional backgrounds was a significant challenge in embracing diversity in organizations (Nkomo et al., 2019). The researcher recommended future studies to provide more opportunities to pursue new knowledge regarding accepting diversity in organizations (Nkomo et al., 2019). While Nkomo et al. (2019) extended the earlier findings on the relationship between acceptance, respect, and diversity management challenges in organizations, the scholars did not use diverse geographical scopes and sample sizes to generalize the findings.

The research was limited to one demographic group and examined organizational diversity and acceptance. In this regard, Nkomo et al. (2019) suggested additional studies on diversity challenges using diverse target populations and geographical locations to generalize the findings. Thus far, the studies reviewed indicate that acceptance and respect are obstacles against diversity management in organizations.

The challenge of Gender Equity in the workplace

Gender equity is another key challenge facing organizations that have been linked to diversity management organizations. For example, in a study of diversity management and the role in gender equity using 36 peer-reviewed articles, Koellen (2021) linked the gender dimension to diversity management challenges. Gender equity depends on individual differences of the executives and attitudes towards opposite genders (Kemper et al., 2018). Specific dimensions of diversity, such as gender diversity, were a challenge in organizations because of the lack of acceptance of certain gender stereotypes in the workplace among individuals in the workforce. The construct of gender discrimination led to gender inequality in organizations, making it challenging to manage a diverse workforce (Koellen, 2021). Kemper et al. (2018) reported comparable findings to Koellen (2021) in a qualitative study of 20 executives of Scandinavian subsidiaries in Japan. After data analysis, Kemper et al. (2018) reported that the and Scandinavia with change strategies such as resistance and rigid to change, compromise, and moderate change.

Similar to Koellen (2021) and Kemper et al. (2018), Baez et al. (2018) also examined gender diversity, corporate governance, and firm behavior in a quantitative study of 118 companies listed at the STOXX@Global 3000 Travel and Leisure. The study findings revealed that women focused only on various organizational tasks, such as marketing and human resources management. The bias in task allocation considered additional evidence of the gender gap, was also an opportunity to link the modern organization to a new management style of managing gender diversity in the workplace (Baez et al., 2018). Abaker et al. (2019) extended earlier results by Baez et al. (2018) in a quantitative study of 11 private sector organizations on diversity management listed on the Saudi stock market. Abaker et al. (2019) established that retention, pay with benefits, and health insurance policies significantly affected diversity management in the Saudi private sector. In addition, the lack of gender equity in the Saudi Market contributed to low performance. (Abaker et al., 2019). A diverse workforce might serve a diverse market with different gender disparities better.

Whereas Abaker et al. (2019) extended earlier findings on diversity management and gender equity in organizations, the authors did not use a diversified sample size to generalize the research findings because one set of target populations might not provide transferable results. Additionally, the investigators used one geographical location regarding diversity management and gender equity in organizations. In this regard, Abaker et al. (2019) suggested further research using large and diverse sample sizes from different geographical locations to understand the effects of gender equity on diversity management in organizations. This study will address the gap in the literature.

Generational Gap

The generational gap has been linked to diversity management challenges. In a study by Schroth (2019), the investigators examined Generation Z (Gen Z) members in the workplace and diversity. They found that employers need to be prepared for the arrival of the Gen Z workforce, who share many traits with the millennial generation. They also bring new behavior patterns, which may be a challenge in a diversified workforce (Schroth, 2019). According to Schroth (2019), every generation has doubts concerning the younger generation's culture and technologies. Therefore, understanding their behavior and needs in a workplace may lead to better integration of new employees and mutual success in organizations (Schroth, 2019). Comparable findings to the result reported by Schroth (2019) were noted by Heyns and Kerr (2018), who examined generational differences in workplace motivation and diversity using a sample of 164 employees. In their results, Heyns and Kerr (2018) revealed that different generations respond differently to motivational factors in the workplace. In addition, employees from other generations had difficulties adapting to changes in the workplace and the work culture that younger generations exhibited (Heyns & Kerr, 2018).

The study findings of Heyns and Kerr (2018) were corroborated by Woods (2018) in a quantitative study of 42 different nationalities to examine the dynamics and relationships that brought migrants to Brazilian towns. The study results indicated that younger generation cohorts preferred living in towns to cosmopolitan areas because of technological changes, which enhanced diversity in their behaviors compared to other generations' cohorts (Woods. 2018). These studies suggest that the generational gap challenges organizational diversity management, especially when dealing with workplace Gen Z cohorts. Given the findings, limited research in the current literature examines the challenges of diversity management in organizations (Woods,

2018). The proposed study seeks to address this gap in the literature by examining the challenges faced by the management of organizations in implementing diversity management strategies.

Addressing Diversity Challenges

Top Management Involvement

Diversity in organizations has several challenges. Integrating opinions, values, and beliefs from a diverse population is a major issue facing organizations (Chaudhry et al., 2021). Successful management of diversity challenges positions organizations in a better place to attract highly qualified talents from diverse backgrounds and their retention (Chaudhry et al., 2021). Some key diversity challenges in organizations include communication issues, decision-making due to diverse opinions, cultural conflicts, inequitable conclusions, and discrimination (Dai et al., 2019).

Organizations' leaders must ensure that they implement appropriate strategies to help employees from diverse backgrounds address diversity challenges (Montgomery et al., 2018). For instance, top leadership must be involved in diversity programs (Delgado-Piña et al., 2020). Top management support is one of the consistent findings throughout the literature used to address diversity challenges. In their qualitative study of 215 participants, Dahanayake et al. (2019) found that leaders played an important role in shaping organizational climate.

While shaping organizational climate, leadership support could support effective organizational diversity management (Delgado-Piña et al., 2020). Fassiotto et al. (2020) also reported that leadership acknowledging the existence of diversity could influence employees' views and perceptions of DEI. In addition, leaders could participate in different practices, such as mentoring employees to handle diverse opinions and views (Fassiotto et al., 2020; Mitchell et al., 2019).

Dispelling Stereotypes and Misconceptions

Another key strategy for addressing diversity challenges is for organizations to allow employees to work together and dispel preconceived stereotypes about a certain group of people (Enders et al., 2021). For instance, open conversations can be promoted throughout the organizations to freely talk about their culture, views, and beliefs (Gassam & Salter, 2020). Such forums play an important role in helping people dispel misconceptions about a specific group of people (Gassam & Salter, 2020).

Similar to Gassam and Salter's (2020). Grissom (2018), in their qualitative study, also found that diversity practice is effective when people are given a chance to talk about them freely. Talking about diversities and providing opportunities for people to understand others, including their cultural, religious, and ethnic foundation, is essential in addressing the previously held misconceptions (Grissom, 2018). Gill et al. (2018) corroborated the findings in their qualitative study of 215 participants. In their study, Gill et al. (2019) reported that diversity management practices in organizations could be enhanced when people openly acknowledge the existence of diversity in terms of race and gender.

Comparable results to Gassam and Salter's (2020) and Gill et al. (2019) were also reported by Goldberg et al. (2019), whose study findings provided preliminary results regarding the benefits of interracial talks. Frequent interracial meetings, including teamwork, help employees to work together and better understand their colleagues (Goldberg et al., 2019). Employees can understand others and compare to previously held stereotypes in such instances. Acknowledging the existence of diversity in organizations is a fast step toward implementing diversity in organizations (Goldberg et al., 2019; Goy et al., 2019). The implication is that employees are likely to participate in diversity practices if they feel that the leadership has openly endorsed it. They must acknowledge and accept gender and racial diversity (Houser, 2019).

Diversity Training Programs

Diversity training is also a critical strategy to address DEI management challenges. In their qualitative study of 197 WOC in the US, Houser (2019) reported that diversity training programs were effective in helping employees in organizations correctly understand the need to respect race and gender. In addition, the researchers found that diversity training programs were also effective in helping employees alleviate negatively held misconceptions about a particular group of people (Houser, 2019). As a result, organizations can adopt multicultural training programs to increase knowledge about diversity and its benefits (Shifna, 2021). Providing employees with information regarding the benefits and dangers of diversity on performance can also motivate them to overcome cultural or racial conflicts and embrace each other (Jonsen et al., 2021).

Integrating DEI in Organizational Culture

Organizational cultures are another key strategy that can address organizational challenges. Organizational culture refers to shared values, beliefs, and customs among a group of people in an organization. After interviewing 57 executives in technology companies, Karakhan et al. (2021) found that integrating diversity concepts in organizational culture played an essential role in achieving DEI in the workplace. Jung et al. (2019) also reported that entrenching diversity principles in organizations' visions and missions, the processes used to accomplish organizational goals was another strategy for achieving equity, diversity, and inclusion. Organizational culture dictates how people interact in organizations, and their values are critical to their success (Kundu & Mor, 2019; Kutch & Kutch, 2022). Therefore, organizational leaders

should integrate the diversity concept into their organizational culture to ensure it is part of the shared beliefs and values (Lala et al., 2020; Lamichhane, 2021). This will help avoid communication issues and stereotypes, given that organizations uphold them within their culture (Literat & Brough, 2019; McGee, 2018; Meyenburg & Selmanovic, 2020).

Increasing Women of Color in IT

Addressing Unconscious Bias

One of the strategies for improving the representation of WOC in a top leadership position is addressing unconscious bias. Brannon et al. (2018) defined unconscious bias as social stereotypes related to specific groups of people formed by other individuals created by their conscious awareness. Burt et al. (2019) noted a need to address unconscious bias to attract talents from different backgrounds, especially WOC. This includes implicit bias, which refers to a prereflective attribution of particular qualities to members of some social outgroup. As reported in a qualitative study with 12 managers from the technology sector, holding unconscious beliefs could threaten diversity and equity practices in originations (Burrell & Nobles, 2018). Given their findings, Burrell and Nobles (2018) recommended that managers in organizations institute mechanisms to address unconscious bias related to negative beliefs and stereotypes toward a given group of people. Burt et al. (2019) also underscored the need to address unconscious bias in organizations by openly acknowledging differences in view, behavior, culture, and values. Organizations would provide reasonable accommodations to employees, attracting a highly talented workforce, especially WOC.

In their qualitative research, Noon (2018) confirmed that individuals often rely on preconceived assumptions or stereotypes when identifying others. These biases likely stem from unique mental constructs formed through learned behaviors, past exposures, or memorized experiences (Williamson & Foley, 2018). These studies demonstrate that unconscious bias relates to preconceived stereotypes people cognitively construct regarding a certain group based on their identities, values, or beliefs. Such preconceived values are likely to be detrimental to diversity practices and the ability of a firm to attract WOC into their workplaces when they feel an implicit bias toward them (Burt et al., 2019; Noon, 2018; Williamson & Foley, 2018).

Several studies have linked implicit bias to discriminatory practices in an organization. For instance, Duma et al. (2019) conducted a qualitative study to investigate the effect of implicit bias on organizational equity practices. After the analysis, the researchers found that the negative mental cognition of people's identity, beliefs, and values was unhealthy to the organization's desire to attract qualified talents from minority groups such as WOC (Duma et al., 2019). Therefore, to attract qualified talent in IT, organizations must address employees' unconscious bias toward WOC, including being considered inferior or incapable (Duma et al., 2019; Noon, 2018).

Oberai and Anand (2018) replicated the above findings in their qualitative studies to understand the effect of implicit bias on recruitment practices. After conducting the study, Oberai and Anand (2018) found that implicit bias in the recruitment team had negatively influenced recruitment practices. Suppose the recruitment team has unconscious racial and gender stereotypes towards a specific group. In that case, they are less likely to recruit them (Burt et al., 2019a). Oberai and Anand (2018) also reported that addressing unconscious bias in the workplace was critical in creating a conducive environment by promoting equity and inclusion by attracting talents from different backgrounds.

Oberai and Anand (2018) and Burt et al. (2019) also recommended that organizational leaders be conscious of major decisions linked to the organizations' unconscious minds. This is critical because it helps leaders identify and correct implicit instances instantly (Duma et al., 2019). Leaders can also use their awareness to encourage other employees to dispel misconceptions about certain groups of people, such as WOC (Duma et al., 2019; Shore et al., 2018).

Groupthink and its Impact on Hiring Women of Color in IT

In talent acquisition, it is imperative to recognize and address groupthink, as this phenomenon can hinder the attainment of diversity, particularly when it comes to increasing the representation of WOC in the IT sector. Groupthink is a psychological occurrence where individuals gravitate towards a consensus, even if it is not the best decision, to maintain harmony and coherence (Seidemann & Weißmüller, 2022). When groupthink takes hold of recruitment teams, they may unintentionally lean towards candidates who mirror the existing workforce composition, thus obstructing diversity initiatives.

Tarki (2019) emphasized in the Harvard Business Review the prevalence of groupthink among recruitment teams and how it may reduce diversity in hiring outcomes. This is alarming because such conformity could, without intent, perpetuate existing demographics and overlook qualified candidates from diverse backgrounds, including WOC. It is vital to acknowledge that the biases giving rise to groupthink may operate at a conscious and unconscious level, necessitating scrutiny of group dynamics within recruitment teams (Tarki, 2019).

In order to counter groupthink within the talent acquisition process, a fundamental approach is ensuring diversity within recruitment teams. When teams are composed of individuals with varied backgrounds and perspectives, they are less prone to groupthink, as they naturally bring different viewpoints to the table (Seidemann & Weißmüller, 2022). Moreover, it is imperative to establish practices that foster critical thinking, promote an environment

conducive to open feedback, and mandate periodic reviews of recruitment decisions for potential biases. Another essential component in mitigating groupthink is educating talent acquisition teams regarding its harmful effects on diversity. Such training should highlight how groupthink can hinder the inclusion of diverse talent, particularly WOC, in the IT sector. It is equally important for organizational leadership to take a proactive stance in emphasizing diversity as an organizational objective and ensuring that recruitment teams are committed to achieving this goal.

By taking decisive steps to curb groupthink, organizations within the IT sector can establish more inclusive recruitment practices. This is not only ethically commendable but is also likely to benefit organizational performance and innovation. Therefore, addressing groupthink is a critical measure in the journey toward augmenting the representation of WOC within the IT sector.

Use of Technology in Hiring

The use of technology in hiring is another strategy that can increase the number of WOC recruited in the technology sector. In their systematic review of 12 articles, Sequeria et al. (2018) found that significant technological advancements in recruitment and hiring processes have shaped how organizations recruit and hire employees. In particular, Sequeria et al. (2018) found that technological progress, including online tracking systems, was critical in allowing employees to track their applications while giving everyone an equal chance to apply. In their qualitative study, Burt et al. (2019b) also reported that technology in hiring employees increased the representation of WOC in other sectors. In addition, given that the system was less manipulated, employers have a better chance of attracting individuals from different backgrounds, including WOC (Burt et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2019).

Despite its significance in DEI, some issues related to technology in hiring practices exist. Present research indicates that although technology presents opportunities to both applicants and organizations, some applicants are disadvantaged in the hiring process, given how the application systems are designed (Cain, 2021; Puhan et al., 2019). For instance, in their qualitative study, Daugherty et al. (2019) reported that online recruitment systems are based on artificial intelligence to identify applicants' behavioral or psychological characteristics based on their resumes. Daugherty et al. (2019) noted that while technology could revolutionize recruitment practices toward diversity, there were still some instances where it could be skewed to favor a certain group of people. However, Cain (2021) refuted the above findings by underscoring that technology has allowed organizations to use social media for advertising and attracting candidates from different backgrounds. While Cain and Trauth (2017) refuted the above findings, they reported that some organizations would compromise the online recruitment system to favor a certain group. At the same time, little research has been conducted to understand how technology could increase women's representation in the corporate technology sector to increase DEI in the workplace (Cain, 2021; Solomon et al., 2018).

Diverse Recruitment Teams and Targeted Recruitment Strategies

Previous literature has identified a target recruitment strategy as a major approach organizations use to attract employees from different backgrounds (Murray & Loyd, 2021; Nizami, 2019; Pritchard et al., 2019). Channaoui et al. (2020) noted that targeted recruitment strategies, such as diversity recruiters from ethnic minority groups, could support organizations' efforts to facilitate diversity within their recruitment practices. However, there are some criticisms regarding using targeted recruitment strategies, given that the minority recruiter could intentionally show bias and recruit individuals with the same backgrounds or experiences (Chakraborty, 2019). In addition, such practices could lead to overrepresenting individuals from specific minorities, leading to questions regarding diversity practices within the organization. However, several strategies have linked target recruitment strategies to equal representation of minorities in the workplace (Chaudhry et al., 2021). While target recruitment strategies promise organizations the likelihood of promoting diversity, few studies have been conducted to explore how targeted recruitment strategies can encourage the recruitment and retention of WOC in the technology sector (Chakraborty, 2019; Murphy et al., 2021). The present research addresses this gap.

Biblical Foundations of the Study

DEI is fundamental to understanding God's will for humanity. The Bible is a playbook for organizations to integrate DEI into the workplace and in leadership.

The Bible tells readers in the first chapter of Genesis, "God created human beings in His own image. In the image of God He created them; male and female He created them" (*New Living Translation*, 2015, Genesis 1:27). The verse mentions "female" demonstrating that women are a reflection of God and highlighting the diversity and unity in His kingdom. Humans are all created equally in God's image and are not discriminated against in His eyes.

The concept of diversity and the human race is further replicated in Genesis 1:28, which states, "be fruitful, increase in number and fill the earth and subdue it." This scripture presents a compelling call for the scattered race to fill and subdue the earth regardless of origin.

In addition, the concept of diversity is quoted in Genesis 9:19 when Noah names his three sons: "from them came the people who were scattered over the earth." The scattering references the duo nature of cultural and racial diversity. Other scriptures have also shown that universality is another way of conceptualizing the essence of diversity. For instance, Joel declared that God would pour His Spirit on all people in the last days. This implies that the Holy Spirit does not respect race or gender. However, God considers them all as one, as depicted in Joel 2:28-29, when God declares that all genders will immerse in His Spirit. Peter's sermon supports the same text on the day of Pentecost. On the day of Pentecost, the Holy Spirit came on people, and they spoke different tongues. The apostles were able to preach in other languages yet united in Christ.

Peter summarizes the universality of Christianity and the need to embrace diversity in Acts 2:8-12, which states, "and yet we hear them speaking in our own native languages! "Both Jews and converts to Judaism....'And we all hear these people speaking in our own languages about the wonderful things God has done!' They stood there amazed and perplexed. 'What can this mean?'" (*New International Version*, 2015). Peter emphasized that Joel already prophesized this when he stated in Joel 2:28-29, "Then after doing all those things, I will pour out my Spiring upon all people. Your sons and daughters will prophesy...even on servants—men and women alike." This indicates that the perception of universality among Christians should help them

God promises that He values men and women impartially. The Bible is a guide on how people should live their lives, and this should include their professional lives. If organizations viewed their workforce as the Body of Christ, they would understand that they need diverse people to accomplish their organizational goals. 1 Corinthians 12:12-14 states, "The human body has many parts, but many parts make up one whole body. So it is with the body of Christ. Some of us are Jews, some are Gentiles, some are slaves, and some are free. But we have all been baptized into one body by one Spirit, and we all share the same Spirit. Yes, the body has many different parts, not just one part" *(New Living Translation, 2015)*. Paul is stating that diversity and inclusion should not be an organizational checkbox but an essential element of functionality. The body parts represent different people, and although they look different, act differently, and work differently, they are needed to accomplish a common goal. A company needs diverse people, including WOC, to survive, grow, and succeed.

Humility and Power in Leadership

In complementing the concept of diversity, it is imperative to understand the role of humility and power in leadership, as depicted in the Bible. Jesus Christ exemplified servant leadership, a model that can profoundly influence an organization's values and environment. Philippians 2:3-7 teaches the importance of humility, advising leaders to value others above themselves, reflecting Christ who, despite His divinity, assumed the nature of a servant. Conversely, the Bible cautions against the misuse of power. Matthew 20:25-26 indicates that, unlike worldly rulers who exert dominance, true greatness in leadership involves serving others.

In an organizational context, leaders who embrace humility are more likely to value contributions from a diverse workforce. This approach encourages an inclusive culture, enabling individuals, including WOC, to thrive and contribute meaningfully. Consequently, adopting servant leadership grounded in humility is essential for fostering genuine DEI.

Summary

Scholars have tried to understand why people of color are still isolated from the technology industry despite a decade of exponential technology growth and development in the United States (Annabi & Lebovitz, 2018; Alfred et al., 2018). According to LA Times writers Dean and Bhuiyan (2020), in as much as billions of investments have been made in the technology industry and the pride of agility, the sector has failed to enhance diversity. Of several proposed reasons for the lack of diversity in the technology industry, it has been concluded that people of color are generally not being hired into technology fields (Alvarez et al., 2020).

Chakravorti (2020) noted that relationships with top organizational leaders could influence employees' chances of employment. Besides the need for referrals and personal relationships, Dean and Bhuiyan (2020) asserted that many people of color were also leaving the IT sector at an unprecedented rate for reasons such as inequalities, poor pay, and unfair market policies (Chakravorti, 2020). This qualitative, descriptive study explored managers' descriptions of strategies to promote the DEI of WOC in the IT sector. Chapter 3 presents the research methods used to collect and analyze data for the current study in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD

Overview

This qualitative, descriptive study explored strategies for implementing talent acquisition and candidate selection processes to promote Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) of Women of Color (WOC) in technology. The study focused on hiring teams in the Information Technology (IT) industry in the United States.

Research Questions

The following research questions guided the study:

RQ1: why does DEI matter in talent acquisition in the IT sector?

RQ2: what recruitment strategies are perceived as most effective by hiring managers in attracting WOC to IT roles?

RQ3: what are the common challenges hiring teams encounter when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector?

RQ4: what are the perceptions regarding the impact of DEI initiatives in improving and sustaining productive work cultures in the IT sector for WOC?

Research Design

A qualitative, methodological approach was chosen for this study. Qualitative research was suitable for exploring and describing participants' perceptions and experiences. Open-ended data collection methods allowed participants to express themselves in their own words (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). One key feature of qualitative research is its grounding in the social, organizational, and individual contexts influencing participants' perspectives. This context-specific nature enables unanticipated insights to emerge (Yin, 2016) and allows for exploring phenomena deeply tied to their contexts (Lune & Berg, 2016). The methodology was also

particularly apt for addressing literature gaps related to inadequately described phenomena (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Quantitative methods were considered but ultimately not selected. While quantitative research can provide generalizable results from numerical data (Rahi, 2017), it limits the indepth exploration of contextual influences (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). In contrast, the grounding of qualitative findings in the perspectives that were drawn would have prevented researchers from confidently generalizing and requires them to assess transferability on a caseby-case basis (Denzin & Lincoln, 2008). However, the decontextualization necessary to represent data numerically and facilitate generalization makes contextual influences challenging to explore in quantitative research.

This study addressed a literature gap by providing strategies for implementing talent acquisition and candidate selection processes to enhance the DEI of WOC in technology. Qualitative research's open-ended, exploratory nature made it the most appropriate approach for exploring perceptions. The research questions call for descriptions of participants' perceptions, and qualitative research is the most appropriate approach for exploring and describing perceptions. Given the strong influence of social, organizational, and individual contexts on the studied phenomena, maintaining context in the data was a priority.

The study employed a qualitative, descriptive research design, which falls outside the five traditional qualitative designs (ethnography, grounded theory, case study, phenomenology, and narrative inquiry) (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Given the focus of this study on participants' perceptions, a phenomenological design was considered. However, phenomenological research focuses on the structure of the internal, subjective component of participants' lived experiences rather than on participants' opinions and perceptions of real-world phenomena (Moustakas,

1994), so a phenomenological design was not selected. A grounded theory design was initially considered. However, grounded theory primarily aims to build new theories (Charmaz, 2014). In this study, existing frameworks like intersectionality and social learning theory provided adequate structure for organizing and evaluating the findings in relation to prior literature. Therefore, a grounded theory design was not adopted.

Data were collected via semi-structured interviews from a purposeful sample of participants knowledgeable about the subject matter. Descriptive research is well-suited for understanding participants' views and experiences of real-world issues (Sandelowski, 2010). Given that this study aimed to describe participants' perceptions of DEI and the strategies and challenges associated with its implementation, a qualitative, descriptive design was the chosen approach.

Participants

The study population consisted of hiring team members in the U.S. IT industry. The target population from which the sample was drawn were those hiring team members who were active in public LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter groups related to the U.S. IT industry. A purposeful sampling strategy was employed, as this nonrandom strategy focused recruitment efforts on individuals likely to have the knowledge needed to provide relevant information (Palinkas et al., 2015).

The specific sampling procedure used was criterion sampling, targeting individuals who met predetermined inclusion criteria designed to increase the likelihood of gathering relevant data (Palinkas et al., 2015). These inclusion criteria were: (a) being a current hiring team member (either a recruiter or a hiring manager), (b) working in the U.S. IT industry, and (c) having at least one year of experience in their current role. Conversely, the exclusion criteria were: (a) not being a current hiring team member, (b) not working in the U.S. IT industry, and (c) having less than one year of experience in the current role.

Following approval from Liberty University's IRB, recruitment was conducted by posting digital recruitment flyers (Appendix A) on LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter groups relevant to hiring team members in the U.S. IT industry. These flyers included key information such as the study's purpose, inclusion criteria, researcher contact information, and an invitation to participate. A secure Google Form was also used for potential participants to confirm their eligibility and interest. This measure ensured participants' privacy and confidentiality.

When participants contacted the researcher, a 10-minute preliminary phone call was scheduled. During the call, participants were required to confirm their adherence to the inclusion criteria verbally. An informed consent form (Appendix B) was emailed to them upon confirmation. Once the consent form was signed and returned, participants were given an alphanumeric identifier to preserve their anonymity. Interviews were scheduled at their convenience.

The study successfully recruited and interviewed 12 hiring team members from the U.S. IT industry, including recruiters, hiring managers, and 12 WOC. This sample size aligns with the recommended range for qualitative studies, as Creswell and Creswell (2017) outlined, which suggests between 5 and 25 participants. Recruitment leveraged purposeful and criterion sampling methods, targeting individuals who met specific inclusion criteria. The sample achieved data saturation, as evidenced by no new themes or codes emerging in analyzing each group's final two consecutive interviews (Fusch & Ness, 2015). When needed, the recruitment strategy was adaptable, including expanding to additional social media platforms and employing snowball sampling techniques (Palinkas et al., 2015).

Study Procedures

Data were collected through individual, semi-structured interviews using a researcherdeveloped interview guide. Each interview took approximately one hour to complete. The interviews were conducted via Zoom to accommodate participants' schedules and to adhere to social distancing guidelines during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Interviews were audio-recorded with the consent of the participants to ensure data accuracy and facilitate analysis. Before initiating the Zoom call, participants were advised during a preliminary phone call to choose a private and minimally distracting location. The terms of informed consent, which included consent for audio-recording, were reviewed at the start of each call, and participants had the opportunity to ask questions or express concerns.

The interview questions were posed in the sequence they appeared in the guide, with follow-up questions introduced as necessary. Upon completion of the interview questions, participants were invited to share any additional thoughts before the audio recording was terminated.

After the interview, a member-checking procedure was implemented to ensure data accuracy. Participants received an email containing a preliminary summary of the codes and themes identified from their respective interviews, as Yin (2016) and Shenton (2004) supported them. They were asked to review and either confirm or suggest modifications to these preliminary findings, which took approximately 15 minutes. This member-checking technique helped verify the precision of the researcher's interpretations and minimized researcher bias.

Instrumentation and Measurement

The data collection instrument for this study was a one-to-one, semi-structured interview guide (Appendix C). This interview format involved asking participants open-ended questions, allowing for more than simple 'yes' or 'no' answers (Rubin & Rubin, 2011). The format also provided the researcher with the flexibility to ask for clarification or additional information through follow-up questions (Newcomer et al., 2015). Semi-structured interviewing was chosen as the most appropriate data collection method given its compatibility with qualitative descriptive research (Sandelowski, 2010).

To improve the study's reliability and validity, the interview guide was developed based on a comprehensive literature review, thereby enhancing the dependability and trustworthiness of the data (Shenton, 2004). Additionally, demographic information was gathered to assess the potential transferability of the study's findings. It began with six close-ended demographic questions regarding gender, race or ethnicity, educational level, role on the hiring team, years in current position, and participation in hiring processes. Reporting these data aided in assessing the transferability of the findings (Shenton). The guide also included eight open-ended questions aimed at addressing the research questions. Interviews typically took about one hour to complete.

Data Analysis

The interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed using Zoom's automated transcription feature. These transcripts were then verified and de-identified by removing any personally identifiable information. The verified transcripts were imported into NVivo 12, a qualitative data analysis software for analysis. While NVivo did not automate the analysis, it helped maintain the integrity of the coding system and documented the researcher's actions (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2011). 57

The data analysis followed Braun and Clarke's inductive, thematic procedure (2006). This inductive approach allowed for identifying patterns in the data rather than fitting them into predefined categories. This method was chosen to address gaps in the existing literature and to allow for the emergence of unanticipated themes. The analysis consisted of six steps: 1) familiarization with the data through reading and rereading, 2) coding the data, 3) grouping codes into themes, 4) reviewing themes against the original data, 5) naming the themes, and 6) presenting the findings.

Ethical Procedures

Before starting participant recruitment, Liberty University's IRB granted approval, ensuring the ethical treatment of human subjects involved. All participants gave informed consent, which outlined the study's aims and the voluntary nature of their participation. This included their right to decline participation, withdraw at any time, or opt out of answering particular questions with no negative consequences.

While there was no direct benefit to participants, risks were minimal and aligned with everyday activities. Confidentiality was maintained by replacing participants' names with alphanumeric codes (P1, P2, etc.) in all research materials. Audio recordings were stored on a password-protected flash drive, which only the researcher can access. This flash drive will be kept in a secure, locked filing cabinet until its destruction after the required retention period. Only de-identified transcripts have been, or will be, publicly presented or quoted.

Delimitations, Assumptions, and Limitations

The study was specifically focused on the U.S. Information Technology industry, limiting its generalizability to other sectors. Furthermore, the participant pool was exclusively sourced

from targeted social media groups, which may not provide a comprehensive representation of the broader community within the industry.

This research operated under certain assumptions. It assumed that the semi-structured interview format is effective in obtaining authentic and valid insights. Additionally, the study relied on the accuracy of self-reported data from participants, operating under the assumption that respondents are providing honest and self-aware answers.

Finally, the study has limitations that must be acknowledged. It incorporated a relatively small sample size of 24 participants, which may affect the robustness and generalizability of the findings. The use of purposeful criterion sampling introduced the potential for biases, which may impact the study's credibility and transferability. Therefore, the results should be interpreted within this specified framework.

Summary

The study employed a qualitative, descriptive approach to explore perspectives of hiring team members in the U.S. IT sector and women of color. The participant pool consisted of 12 hiring professionals and 12 women of color, all active in relevant social media communities. After receiving IRB approval, recruitment was conducted through digital flyers disseminated in these specific online groups, using a selective sampling strategy. Data collection consisted of semi-structured Zoom interviews, guided by a rigorously developed interview protocol. These interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and verified. Data analysis was performed using NVivo 12 software, applying both inductive and thematic methods. To ensure validity, member checking was utilized, and confidentiality was strictly maintained. Chapter 4 presents the detailed findings generated from this methodological approach.

CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS

Overview

This qualitative, methodological study explored talent acquisition and hiring strategies to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) of women of color (WOC) in the IT industry in the United States. The following sections define the demographic attributes of the study's participants, lay out the key findings organized according to the research questions, and provide a findings summary.

Participants

A total of 24 participants were included in this study. Twelve participants were WOC working in the IT industry, and the remaining 12 were members of hiring teams in the IT industry. Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the WOC participants.

Table 1

Participant	Gender	Race	Age range	Education	Salary range
WOC1	Female	Asian	25–34	Master's	\$100,000-\$200,000
WOC2	Female	Hispanic	35–44	Master's	\$50,000-\$100,000
WOC3	Female	Asian	25–34	Bachelor's	\$100,000-\$200,000
WOC4	Female	Black	Over 50	Master's	More than \$200,000
WOC5	Female	Mixed	25–34	Master's	\$100,000-\$200,000
WOC6	Female	Asian	35–44	Master's	\$50,000-\$100,000
WOC7	Female	Hispanic	25–34	Bachelor's	\$100,000-\$200,000
WOC8	Female	Black	35–44	Master's	\$50,000-\$100,000
WOC9	Female	Asian	Over 50	Master's	More than \$200,000
WOC10	Female	Hispanic	25–34	Master's	\$100,000-\$200,000
WOC11	Female	Mixed	25–34	Master's	\$50,000-\$100,000
WOC12	Female	Black	35–44	Bachelor's	\$100,000-\$200,000

WOC Participant Demographics

Table 2 indicates the demographic characteristics of the hiring team member participants.

Table 2

Participant	Gender	Race	Age range	Education	Job title
HT1	Male	White	35-44	Master's	Recruiter
HT2	Female	Asian	25-34	Bachelor's	Hiring Manager
HT3	Male	Hispanic	Over 50	Master's	Recruiter
HT4	Female	White	Over 50	Bachelor's	Hiring Manager
HT5	Female	Black	25-34	Bachelor's	Recruiter
HT6	Male	Black	25-34	Bachelor's	Recruiter
HT7	Male	Mixed	35-44	Master's	Hiring Manager
HT8	Female	Hispanic	35-44	Bachelor's	Recruiter
HT9	Male	Asian	46-50	Bachelor's	Hiring Manager
HT10	Female	Black	25-34	Master's	Recruiter
HT11	Female	Native American	25-34	Master's	Hiring Manager
HT12	Male	Black	25-34	Bachelor's	Recruiter

Hiring Team Member Participant Demographics

Results

Theme Development

This study employed Braun and Clarke's (2006) inductive thematic method to analyze verbatim transcripts of interviews using NVivo 12 software. The analysis unfolded across six structured steps: (1) data familiarization, (2) data coding, (3) theme identification, (4) theme review, (5) theme naming, and (6) report generation.

Step 1: Familiarization with the Data

Each of the 24 interview transcripts was rigorously read multiple times in full in the reading pane of NVivo. In reading and rereading the data, a holistic sense of its contents was gained to identify patterns. Handwritten notes were made at this stage regarding repeated words,

phrases, and ideas that appeared in the participants' responses. These notes were the basis for code formation during the following analysis step.

Step 2: Coding the Data

Analyzing the data via coding required a two-tier approach. Initially, the data were segmented into discrete elements termed 'meaning units.' This involved breaking down participants' transcribed responses into phrases or sets of phrases, each capturing a unique idea relevant to the research question. These segmented phrases or sets of phrases were then labeled as 'meaning units.'

For example, take the comment from Hiring Team Participant 1 (HT1): "Diversity and inclusion initiatives have a profound effect on creating a welcoming environment that fosters innovation." This statement is significant in addressing Research Question 1 (RQ1), which examines the importance of DEI initiatives. It is relevant to HT1's assertion that DEI initiatives are essential because they enhance innovation by fostering a welcoming environment. Across all 24 transcripts, a total of 157 meaning units were identified.

Each meaning unit was attributed a preliminary code in the subsequent phase. For example, considering the substance of HT1's statement, which suggested that DEI initiatives are essential owing to their role in amplifying innovation within an organization, this particular meaning unit was associated with a code labeled 'enhanced innovation.'

When different meaning units conveyed similar messages, they were grouped under a shared code. This enabled the inductive clustering of participants' responses based on emergent thematic patterns. To illustrate, WOC Participant 5 (WOC5) remarked, "DEI initiatives can lead to an influx of diverse perspectives, which catalyzes innovation." Similar to HT1's statement, this reflects the premise that DEI initiatives are significant due to their contribution to

innovation. Consequently, WOC5's statement was coupled with the same 'enhanced innovation' code as HT1's.

Ultimately, the 157 meaning units were allocated across 14 distinct codes. Table 3 contains a breakdown of these codes and the number of meaning units grouped under each.

Table 3

Initial Codes

	Number of times the code was	
	identified in the data	
Initial code	Hiring Teams	WOC
Address unconscious bias	8	9
Biases are barriers	7	10
Highlighting successes of WOC	1	3
Increase WOC representation	2	2
Increased innovation	7	5
Increased productivity	7	3
Increased sense of belonging and community	6	8
Mentorship programs	4	6
Partner with DEI organizations	8	6
Psychological safety		2
Respected employees contribute more	6	4
Showcase commitment to DEI	8	8
Supportive work environment	5	10
Underrepresentation is a barrier	6	6

Defining the Codes

Code 1: Address Unconscious Bias. The code *Address Unconscious Bias* emphasizes recognizing and addressing unconscious biases in talent acquisition, particularly for WOC. Unconscious biases can impact hiring decisions and limit opportunities for diverse candidates. To mitigate these biases, organizations can implement strategies such as bias training for hiring

teams, inclusive job descriptions, and diverse interview panels. Participants discussed approaches such as training hiring teams to ensure job descriptions are read inclusively. HT2 elucidated, "We have found success by incorporating bias training in our teams and working to create more inclusive job descriptions. We also ensure that our interview panels are diverse."

Code 2: Biases are Barriers. The code *Biases are Barriers* identifies the challenges associated with overcoming systemic biases that impact WOC in the workplace. Participants shared their experiences identifying these biases and implementing strategies to mitigate them. HT12 stated:

We need to be proactive in identifying and challenge the biases that can serve as barriers for WOC in our company and the tech industry in general. These biases can deter WOC from pursuing or advancing in technical roles. It is an ongoing process for us, but we are prioritizing it.

Code 3: Highlighting Successes of WOC. The code *Highlighting Successes of WOC* reflects the importance of recognizing and celebrating the successes of WOC within an organization. Participants shared how this motivates others, increases morale, and fosters a more inclusive workplace. HT4 stated, "Spotlighting the achievements of women of color at our company events and in our internal and external communications allows us to celebrate their accomplishments and, in turn, showcase our success and improvements."

Code 4: Increase WOC Representation. The code *Increase WOC Representation* describes the various strategies companies can implement to increase the representation of WOC in their workplace. These strategies may include outreach programs, partnerships with organizations that support WOC in tech, and targeted recruitment efforts. HT8 mentioned. "We have had success in building relationships with universities and organizations that support women of color in tech. This helps to create a pipeline of diverse talent."

HT10 noted:

We started a targeted recruitment campaign to attract more women of color. We also ensured we used inclusive language in our job postings and involved our hiring teams by making sure our interview panels were diverse because we want them to see a future here, and that includes opportunities for growth and development.

Code 5: Increased Innovation. The code *Increased Innovation* was used to characterize the shared experiences and insights into how diversity promotes organizational innovation. This code captures the idea that diversity within an organization can drive innovation by bringing together various perspectives and experiences. A diverse workforce can lead to creative problemsolving and the generation of new ideas as individuals from different backgrounds approach challenges in unique ways. HT11 stated, "The different backgrounds, experiences, and perspectives that our diverse employees bring to the table have been a significant driver of innovation in our company."

WOC2 believed, "When there are diverse perspectives, people, knowledge, and experiences at the table, it can lead to better problem-solving and innovation."

Code 6: Increased Productivity. *Increased Productivity* illustrates the relationship between inclusiveness and productivity and is defined as experiences where inclusivity and
support were perceived to increase productivity. Employees who feel valued, included, and supported are more likely to be motivated, committed, and productive. An inclusive environment where everyone's voice is heard can lead to higher team morale and better performance. Participants mentioned that feelings of inclusivity, support, and value contribute to enhanced motivation, commitment, and overall productivity. For instance, HT5 shared, "When we create an inclusive environment where everyone's voice is heard and valued, we see a significant increase in team morale and productivity. People tend to perform better when they feel that they belong and that their contributions matter."

Code 7: Increased Sense of Belonging and Community. The code *Increased Sense of Belonging and Community* highlights the importance of creating a work environment where employees feel a sense of belonging and are part of a community. Initiatives promoting inclusivity, such as team activities and celebrating cultural diversity, enhance this sense of belonging, thereby contributing to a more productive work environment. WOC4 noted, "It's important to create a sense of belonging. This can be fostered by inclusive team activities and openly celebrating cultural diversity."

Code 8: Mentorship Programs. The code *Mentorship Programs* highlights the importance of providing mentorship opportunities for WOC in the workplace. Mentorship programs can provide guidance, support, and networking opportunities, which can help attract and retain WOC. WOC2 exclaimed, "I love seeing companies that offer mentorship opportunities or buddy programs specifically for women of color because that means I have a true chance of growing with a company."

HT4 explained, "Implementing mentorship programs specifically designed for women of color can provide guidance, support, and networking opportunities, fostering an environment that encourages their active participation and advancement."

Code 9: Partnership with DEI Organizations. *Partnership with DEI Organizations* emphasizes the benefits of collaborating with organizations focused on DEI. Strategic partnerships with these organizations can provide access to diverse talent pools and help companies attract and retain WOC. HT1 mentioned, "Partnering with organizations serving women and people of color in technology has diversified our talent pools significantly and improved our overall hiring rate of WOC in the last year."

Code 10: Psychological Safety. *Psychological Safety* creates an environment where employees feel safe to be themselves and voice their ideas and concerns. Participants noted the importance of psychological safety in fostering a healthy and productive work environment. WOC3 declared:

Diversity and inclusion initiatives can help reduce micro-aggressions and implicit biases in the workplace, which have a huge impact on WOC's psychological safety and productivity. I want to feel like I can speak up, make suggestions, and raise concerns without fear of retribution.

Code 11: Respected Employees Contribute More. The code *Respected Employees Contribute More* demonstrates the importance of respecting all employees, irrespective of their background or identity, and how this enhances their contributions to the workplace. As indicated by one WOC3 participant, "I would like to add that companies should seek to understand and respect our unique experiences and challenges if they want to foster an inclusive workplace." WOC9 reflected, "I would like to remind companies that diversity and inclusion is not just about numbers. It is about creating a culture where everyone feels valued and respected no matter who they are or where they came from."

Code 12: Showcase Commitment to DEI. The code *Showcase Commitment to DEI* emphasizes the need for transparent communication about the commitment to DEI. Participants shared that highlighting and executing a commitment DEI has attracted them to an organization, improved the workplace culture, and increased employee morale. HT4 noted, "We found that openly talking about DEI and our never-ending commitment to fostering it has not only attracted more candidates while being the top reason they applied to us but it has helped improve our organizational culture as well."

Code 13: Supportive Work Environment. The code *Supportive Work Environment* defines the components of a supportive work environment, including various aspects such as open communication, regular feedback, understanding, and empathy. HT6 stated:

A supportive work environment involves more than just good benefits and fun perks. It's about access to opportunities, addressing discrimination and harassment, open communication, and fostering an inclusive culture. DEI initiatives have helped us build this kind of supportive environment.

Code 14: Underrepresentation is a Barrier. The code *Underrepresentation is a Barrier* provides insight into how underrepresentation can act as a barrier to achieving an inclusive work environment for WOC. Participants discussed challenges such as lack of mentors, feelings of isolation, and perceptions of exclusion. An example from HT1, "The underrepresentation of women of color in our team not only affects the sense of belonging for those who are here, but it makes it challenging to attract and retain more."

Step 3: Identifying Emerging Themes

Emerging themes were discerned by amalgamating codes that shared a relationship. For instance, the codes 'enhanced innovation' and 'boosted productivity' were synthesized into an initial theme, as both articulated reasons for the importance of DEI initiatives. Similarly, 'barriers due to biases' and 'barriers due to underrepresentation' converged into another initial theme, illustrating the obstacles in attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC. Table 4 delineates how the foundational codes coalesced into initial themes.

Table 4

	<i>n</i> of times theme was identified in data from:	
Preliminary theme Initial code grouped to form theme	Hiring Teams	Women of Color
Why DEI matter	13	7
Increased innovation		
Increased productivity		
Strategies to attract, recruit, and retain WOC	32	37
Address unconscious bias		
Highlighting successes of WOC		
Increase WOC representation		
Mentorship programs		
Partner with DEI organizations		
Showcase commitment to DEI		
Supportive work environment		
Challenges to attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC	13	15
Biases are barriers		
Underrepresentation is a barrier		
DEI initiative impacts on productive work culture	12	13
Increased sense of belonging and community		

Grouping of Related Codes to Form Preliminary Themes

Step 4: Refining the Themes

Refining the themes involved ascertaining their accuracy in reflecting the data and ensuring clarity in presentation. This entailed cross-referencing the themes against the original dataset and verifying their alignment with participants' responses. Further, ensuring that the themes were distinct and non-overlapping was crucial. Themes could be merged or particular codes reassigned to create more meaningful categories. Additionally, each theme was scrutinized for internal coherence; in cases where a theme lacked unity, it was subdivided into more focused themes.

Step 5: Assigning Descriptive Names to Themes

Assigning descriptive names to the themes involved examining each theme for its relevance to the research questions. The data associated with each theme was analyzed to discern its underlying message in relation to the research question. The initial theme labels were then substituted with more descriptive and purposeful names that concisely captured the essence of the themes as answers to the research questions.

Table 5

Finalized Naming of Preliminary Themes

Preliminary Theme: Why DEI Matter	
Theme 1: DEI Promote Innovation	
Theme 2: DEI Promote Productivity	
Preliminary Theme 2: Strategies To Attract, Recruit, and Retain WOC	
Theme 3: Showcasing Commitment to DEI	
Theme 4: Partnering with DEI-focused organizations	
Theme 5: Addressing Unconscious Bias	
Theme 6: Creating a Supportive, Inclusive Workplace Culture	
Preliminary Theme 3: Challenges to Attracting, Recruiting, and Retaining WOC	
Theme 7: The Challenges of Biases	
Theme 8: The Challenges of Underrepresentation	
Preliminary Theme 4: DEI Initiative Impacts on Productive Work Culture	
Theme 9: Fostering a Sense of Belonging and Community for WOC	
Theme 10: Cultivating Environments Where WOC Feel Valued and Respected	

Step 6: Crafting the Report

This final step encompassed the creation of this chapter, offering a comprehensive

presentation of the findings. In the subsequent section, findings are elucidated in greater depth,

supported by direct quotations from the dataset to substantiate all observations.

Research Question Themes

Research Question One: Importance of DEI

The first research question (RQ1) sought to understand why DEI matters in talent

acquisition, particularly within the technology industry.

Two primary themes emerged from the data to address this question. All 12 members of

the Hiring Teams (HT) and 7 Women of Color (WOC) concurred that DEI not only fosters

innovation but also enhances productivity in IT organizations. These sentiments were

overwhelmingly positive, with no participants offering data contradicting this view. Divergent

data came from some WOC participants, who felt that DEI's primary contributions were to collaboration or creating a sense of belonging and psychological safety for WOC.

Theme 1: DEI Promotes Innovation

Seven HT participants and five WOC participants expressed the perception that DEI contributed to innovation in IT organizations. HT11 posited that DEI initiatives "significantly enhance the richness of ideas and perspectives within the organization," acting as a catalyst for innovation. Similarly, HT5 suggested that DEI initiatives cultivate a work environment where WOC can thrive, stating that this culture "ultimately leads to more innovation and productivity."

Furthermore, WOC participants provided similar insights. WOC2 emphasized that diversity of perspectives naturally enhances innovation, asserting that "when you have diverse perspectives and experiences at the table, it can lead to better problem-solving and innovation." WOC6 supported WOC2's viewpoint: "By creating an environment that values diverse backgrounds and experiences, we can foster innovation and creativity.."

Subtheme 1: Welcoming Culture. HT1 articulated that DEI initiatives were pivotal in creating a welcoming workplace environment, noting, "Diversity and inclusion initiatives have a profound effect on creating a welcoming environment that fosters innovation [and] creativity."

The five WOC participants who agreed with HT participants—that DEI fostered innovation—illuminated why helping WOC feel welcome translated into enhanced organizational creativity. Specifically, WOC1 suggested that when employees felt respected, they were more willing to offer their best ideas and collaborate effectively, ultimately fostering an environment of acceptance and openness necessary for creativity and innovation. We can also see from the data that a welcoming culture and emphasizing value positively affected productivity.

Theme 2: DEI Promotes Productivity

Seven HT participants and three WOC participants indicated that DEI contributed to greater productivity in IT organizations. HT12 said that DEI emphasized that DEI created "a more productive work culture for everyone, including women of color." Similarly, HT9 linked an inclusive culture to productivity: "DEI initiatives improve team dynamics by creating a culture where everyone feels they belong." HT10 added that when WOC felt respected, it "improved team morale and productivity." This was echoed by WOC10, who suggested that an inclusive workplace led to "higher job satisfaction and productivity."

WOC3 stated that DEI initiatives had "A huge impact on women of color's productivity," while WOC4 believed DEI enhanced "collaboration, innovation, and overall productivity." In summary, the participants expressed the perception that DEI and DEI initiatives mattered because they increased innovation and productivity in information technology organizations. **Research Question Two: Strategies for Attracting, Recruiting, and Retaining Women of Color**

The second research question asked, "What talent acquisition strategies can effectively attract, recruit, and retain WOC in the IT sector?" Four themes and three subthemes emerged to address this question. Both HT and WOC participants contributed, recommending seven key strategies. At least four participants supported each recommendation. The strategies, listed by the number of participants endorsing them, included: (a) showcasing commitment to DEI (recommended by 15 participants); (b) partnering with DEI-focused organizations to recruit WOC (14 participants); addressing unconscious bias in hiring and promotion practices (14 participants); creating a supportive and inclusive workplace (12 participants); implementing mentorship programs for WOC (eight participants); highlighting successes of WOC (four participants), and; increasing WOC representation (four participants).

Theme 3: Showcasing Commitment to DEI

Eight HT and seven WOC participants underscored the importance of IT organizations visibly demonstrating their commitment to DEI to attract, recruit, and retain WOC. HT9 mentioned that "showcasing our company's diversity in external communications helps attract diverse candidates." HT3 emphasized transparency about DEI goals, stating, "Being transparent about our DEI efforts and goals, both internally and externally, attracts a more diverse candidate pool." HT6 and HT7 pointed to the effectiveness of openly discussing and promoting DEI initiatives. Specifically, HT6 mentioned the value of "actively promoting our commitment to diversity in job postings and on our company website." At the same time, HT7 found that "open dialogue about our commitment to diversity attracts a wider range of candidates." WOC participants agreed. WOC1 observed that organizations committed to DEI "tend to attract more women of color." WOC4 stressed that this showcasing should be proactive, saying, "Organizations that proactively showcase their commitment are more successful in engaging WOC in the tech industry." Lastly, WOC10 spoke of "highlighting" DEI commitment in job postings to "attract more diverse candidates."

Theme 4: Partnering with DEI-focused Organizations

Eight HT and six WOC participants emphasized the value of effectively partnering with DEI-focused organizations to recruit WOC into IT fields. HT1 mentioned successful collaborations with universities supporting WOC in tech, stating, "Partnering with organizations and universities focused on women of color in tech has yielded skilled and passionate candidates." HT11 added, "Partnerships with organizations specifically supporting women of color in tech have been successful." HT4 cited diversity-focused job fairs as an effective strategy, saying, "Collaborating with organizations promoting diversity and attending diversity job fairs

have been effective." WOC participants advocated for proactive efforts. WOC1 advised, "Organizations should proactively attend job fairs or collaborate with diversity-supporting organizations." WOC5 suggested an active presence in WOC-rich communities and educational institutions: "An active community presence can attract diverse talent." WOC6 emphasized purposeful outreach, recommending, "Organizations should seek WOC through career fairs at historically black colleges or partnerships with tech organizations focused on WOC."

Theme 5: Addressing Unconscious Bias

Seven HT and seven WOC participants advised IT organizations to actively address unconscious bias in hiring and promotion. HT11 highlighted the importance of neutral language in job postings: "Job postings should be gender-neutral and welcoming." HT2 discussed bias training and diversifying interview panels: "We incorporate bias training and work to create more inclusive job descriptions. Diverse interview panels are also used." HT9 added, "Bias training is provided to hiring teams to ensure fairness." WOC participants concurred on the need for unbiased hiring. WOC1 stated, "Addressing unconscious biases in hiring and promotions is crucial." WOC11 recommended inclusive job descriptions: "Job requirements should be inclusive and bias-free." WOC3 and WOC12 advocated for widespread bias training: "Training all employees, especially hiring staff, can raise awareness of unconscious bias and promote equitable evaluations."

Theme 6: Creating a Supportive, Inclusive Workplace Culture

Five HT and seven WOC participants advised IT organizations to cultivate a supportive, inclusive workplace culture to attract, retain, and advance WOC. HT3 highlighted the importance of resources for career development and equal promotion opportunities to retain WOC. HT5 echoed that their "workplace culture is supportive and inclusive, which aids in retention." HT9

defined an inclusive and supportive workplace as one where all employees feel valued: "They should actively work to create a culture where everyone feels valued and included." The recommendation of creating an inclusive and supportive workplace culture was one of the most strongly attested by WOC participants, along with addressing unconscious bias. WOC1 agreed with HT5 that an inclusive culture promotes retention for WOC: "Creating a more inclusive work culture, where everyone feels valued and respected, will help retain WOC in IT roles." WOC11 added that an inclusive culture where WOC job candidates can see other WOC thriving will help to attract those WOC candidates to apply for jobs with the company: "Creating a supportive and inclusive company culture can help attract WOC. If they see that other WOC are thriving at the company, they're more likely to apply." WOC8 added that support should extend beyond professional development and include mental health support for the specific challenges that WOC face in workplaces where they are minorities:

I want to emphasize the importance of mental health support. The stress and isolation from being one of the only people of color in a workplace can be detrimental to our mental health. Companies need to make sure they are providing adequate support.

Subtheme 1: Implementing Mentorship Programs. Three HT and five WOC participants stressed the importance of mentorship programs in attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in IT. HT4 emphasized, "Offering tailored mentorship programs and career development opportunities can help engage and retain WOC once they are hired." HT7 concurred, stating IT companies should "Provide mentorship and development programs specifically for WOC." On the same note, WOC participants agreed. WOC2 said, "Companies that provide career mentorship and sponsorship opportunities specifically targeting WOC can be very effective. When I see that I can grow with a company through mentorship opportunities, I am motivated to apply." WOC4 added that such programs don't just attract but also retain:

Implementing mentorship programs specifically designed for WOC can provide guidance, support, and networking opportunities, fostering an environment that encourages their active participation and advancement. These strategies attract talented WOC and create a positive reputation as an inclusive organization, which can further enhance recruitment efforts and support long-term retention.

Subtheme 2: Highlighting Successes of WOC Employees. One HT and three WOC participants recommended highlighting the successes of WOC employees. HT4 recommended "Showcasing the achievements of WOC within the company." WOC12 explained why this strategy was effective for recruiting WOC: "Showcasing the success stories of current employees of color can be a powerful recruitment tool. It shows potential candidates that they can succeed at the company." WOC4 agreed with WOC12 that showcasing the successes of current WOC employees signaled to WOC candidates that the company valued DEI: "By openly advocating for diversity and celebrating the accomplishments of WOC within the company, organizations can send a strong message that they value and prioritize the growth and success of underrepresented groups."

Subtheme 3: Increasing WOC Representation. Two HT participants and two WOC participants recommended increasing WOC representation. HT11 recommended "Ensuring representation [of WOC] at all levels" of the company. HT8 suggested that such representation could be realized by offering WOC "clear career pathways," stating, "Organizations can improve by ensuring diversity in leadership roles and providing clear career pathways for WOC. This can help attract and retain diverse talent." Echoing this sentiment, WOC11 emphasized the need for

WOC to be represented in entry-level roles and leadership: "I'd like to emphasize the importance of representation at all levels of the organization, not just entry-level positions. Seeing WOC in leadership positions can inspire others to pursue careers in tech." WOC2 concurred, adding, "Organizations should actively promote qualified WOC to leadership roles to provide visible role models and show that there isn't a glass ceiling at their organization." In summary, participants recommended a seven-pronged approach to attract, recruit, and retain WOC in IT: Commitment to DEI, partnerships with DEI-focused organizations, combating unconscious bias, fostering an inclusive culture, implementing mentorship programs, celebrating WOC achievements, and elevating WOC representation across organizational levels.

Research Question Three: Challenges in Attracting, Recruiting, and Retaining Women of Color

RQ3 posed the question: What are the prevalent challenges in attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector? Two primary themes emerged in response to RQ3. All 12 HT and WOC participants identified two main challenges: conscious or unconscious bias and the systemic underrepresentation of WOC at various organizational levels. This latter challenge leaves WOC without peer and mentor support of the same race and gender within their workplaces.

Theme 7: The Challenges of Biases

Seven HT participants pinpointed bias as a significant obstacle to attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in IT organizations. HT10 described the primary hurdle as unconscious bias in hiring, stating, "One major challenge is overcoming unconscious bias in the hiring process. This can unintentionally create barriers for women of color and deter them from applying for certain roles." HT12 highlighted that these biases are often inherent and inadvertent, "The primary challenge is overcoming the inherent biases in the recruitment process, which can inadvertently limit opportunities for women of color." Similarly, HT5 emphasized that unconscious biases within hiring pose a challenge, "One challenge is breaking down the unconscious biases that exist within the hiring process. This can unintentionally create barriers and discourage WOC from applying."

Ten WOC participants also indicated bias as a challenge to attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC. WOC1 referred to biases and stereotypes as affecting recruiters' perceptions of WOCs' capabilities: "As a woman of color, I have found that stereotypes and biases are the most prominent barriers during the recruitment process. Sometimes, recruiters might have preconceived notions about our capabilities, which could lead to missed opportunities." WOC2, differing from HT participants, mentioned both conscious and unconscious biases, "One of the main barriers that WOC face is bias, both conscious and unconscious. This can result in being overlooked during the recruitment process or underestimated in our abilities." WOC6 concurred, "Bias, both unconscious and conscious, play a role, leading to WOC being overlooked for opportunities." Lastly, WOC4 articulated the experience of being stereotyped:

The barrier I've faced the most is being viewed through the lens of stereotypes. This limits the opportunities we're given and has led to me and other WOC being overlooked or underestimated, making it challenging to secure a role in IT.

Theme 8: The Challenges of Underrepresentation

Six HT participants identified underrepresentation of WOC in IT organizations as a challenge. HT1 determined the lack of mentors as a result of this underrepresentation, stating, "The primary challenge is the underrepresentation of WOC in the industry. This scarcity often leads to a lack of mentors and role models, which might dissuade potential candidates from

pursuing opportunities." HT8 echoed this sentiment, observing, "One challenge is the lack of representation of women of color in tech, which can make it harder to attract and retain them. They may not see themselves reflected in the company or industry." HT6 identified underrepresentation as a hurdle in attracting WOC, noting, "Attracting women of color can be challenging due to societal barriers and the lack of representation in the IT sector."

Similarly, six WOC participants also articulated the underrepresentation of WOC as a challenge. WOC2 related this to a struggle for WOC to see themselves in specific roles or organizations, stating, "The paucity of representation in the industry can engender a sense of isolation, complicating the ability for WOC to envision occupying certain roles or ascending within organizations." WOC3 highlighted the lack of diverse representation on interview panels as a barrier in recruitment, stating, "Another common barrier is the lack of representation in interview panels. This can lead to unconscious biases and stereotypes influencing the recruitment process. These factors can lead to WOC being overlooked or underestimated during the recruitment process." WOC10 provided data to corroborate WOC3's observation, "The lack of diversity in the interview panel can be a significant barrier. It can lead to unconscious bias and a feeling of not belonging." Thus, the participants cited two common challenges to attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in IT organizations, including biases (whether conscious or unconscious) and underrepresentation in those organizations of WOC.

Research Question Four: Hiring Team Perceptions of the Impact of D&I Initiatives

RQ4 asked: What are the perspectives of departmental staff on the impact of DEI initiatives in enhancing and sustaining productive work environments in the IT sector for WOC? Two main themes emerged to address this research question.

The data from all 12 HT and 12 WOC participants were analyzed. These participants suggested that DEI initiatives are critical in fostering productive work cultures specifically for WOC. They cited an increased sense of belonging and community among WOC as one key benefit. In addition, participants indicated that such cultures were more productive for WOC because employees who felt valued and respected were more committed and contributed more effectively.

Theme 9: Fostering a Sense of Belonging and Community for WOC

Six HT and eight WOC participants indicated that DEI initiatives improve and sustain productive work cultures by giving WOC a sense of belonging and community. HT1 said, "Diversity and inclusion initiatives have a profound effect on creating a welcoming environment." HT12 explained the connection between a work environment that celebrates diversity and productive work culture, saying, "DEI initiatives can create an environment that celebrates differences and encourages open dialogue. This can lead to a more productive work culture for everyone, including WOC." HT3 described DEI initiatives as making all employees feel valued: "DEI initiatives within talent acquisition create an environment where everyone feels valued and included." HT11 stated that DEI initiatives can "create a more fulfilling work culture for WOC." WOC participants agreed. WOC1 mentioned an increased sense of belonging: "I believe that diversity and inclusion initiatives can play a significant role in creating a sense of belonging for WOC like me in the IT industry." WOC8 also highlighted an increased sense of belonging: "Diversity and inclusion initiatives can make a real impact by challenging the status quo and promoting an environment where everyone feels they belong." WOC9 described DEI initiatives as helping WOC to feel welcomed, valued, and respected: "DEI initiatives in talent acquisition can help normalize diversity in the workplace, making it more comfortable and

welcoming for WOC. If we see that diversity is valued and respected, it makes us feel we can be ourselves."

Theme 10: Cultivating Environments Where WOC Feel Valued and Respected

Six HT and four WOC participants expressed that DEI initiatives amplify and sustain productive work cultures by ensuring WOC feel valued and respected, thus encouraging greater contribution. HT10 said of DEI initiatives, "They can help WOC feel appreciated and respected, leading to improved morale and productivity." HT5 said of DEI, "It fosters a culture where WOC can thrive, which ultimately leads to more productivity." HT9 said that through DEI initiatives, "Women of color can feel valued for their unique contributions." WOC participants agreed. WOC1 said, "When employees feel valued and respected, they are more likely to contribute their best ideas." WOC4 said that when DEI initiatives were conducted effectively, "By fostering an inclusive environment, employees from diverse backgrounds feel valued, respected, and empowered to contribute their unique perspectives." Speaking for WOC, WOC7 stated, "If we know we're valued for our unique perspectives and experiences, we're more likely to stay in the company and contribute our best work."

Summary

The data for this qualitative, methodological study provided valuable insights into strategies to embed DEI in talent acquisition to attract, select, and retain WOC in IT. Through data analysis, ten key themes emerged to address the four research questions used to guide this study. Four research questions (RQs) were formulated to guide the study.

RQ1 sought to understand the importance of DEI in talent acquisition and the technology industry. Two themes emerged to address this question: (Theme 1) DEI fosters innovation, and (Theme 2) DEI boosts organizational productivity.

RQ2 explored talent acquisition strategies to attract, recruit, and retain WOC in IT. In response, four primary themes and three subthemes were identified. Verified by multiple participants, these strategies are (Theme 3) demonstrating commitment to DEI, recommended by 15 participants; (Theme 4) collaborating with DEI-centric organizations for recruiting WOC, endorsed by 14 participants; (Theme 5) mitigating unconscious bias in hiring, supported by 14 participants; and (Theme 6) building an inclusive and supportive workplace, backed by 12 participants. Subthemes include (1) implementing mentorship programs for WOC, (2) celebrating WOC's achievements, and (3) enhancing WOC representation.

However, the study also identified challenges that were used to address RQ3: What are the common challenges encountered when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector? Two themes were used to address this question: the challenges of biases and underrepresentation. All 24 participants, both HT and WOC, contributed data. The participants indicated that there were two common challenges encountered when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector. The first challenge was bias, whether conscious or unconscious. The second challenge was the underrepresentation of WOC at all organizational levels. This challenge left other WOC without same-race, same-gender mentors and peers with whom to network for support.

Overcoming these challenges requires proactive measures such as challenging biases, increasing representation through targeted recruitment efforts, and creating opportunities for growth and development for WOC.

For RQ4, which examined departmental perspectives on the impact of DEI initiatives, two key themes were identified: (Theme 9) DEI initiatives foster a sense of community and belonging for WOC, and (Theme 10) DEI initiatives help cultivate environments where WOC feel valued and respected. All participants indicated that these initiatives positively impacted productive work cultures for WOC by enhancing their sense of belonging and encouraging more significant contributions from those who felt valued and respected.

Overall, these findings provide practical recommendations for organizations aiming to promote DEI and improve the representation and inclusion of WOC in the technology industry. By implementing these strategies and addressing the identified challenges, organizations can create an inclusive work culture that attracts, recruits and retains talented WOC. This leads to enhanced innovation and productivity and fosters a more equitable and diverse IT sector. Chapter 5 includes discussion, interpretation, and recommendations based on these findings.

CHAPTER 5: RESEARCH METHOD

The issue this study addressed is the ongoing concern about diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) in the information technology (IT) sector, particularly among women of color (WOC) (Armstrong et al., 2018; Whitney & Taylor, 2018). This qualitative, methodological study explored perceptions of hiring managers and WOC in the IT industry regarding hiring strategies that may benefit talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote DEI of WOC in IT jobs. The target population included participants from hiring teams from the IT industry in the United States. The study's target population consisted of professionals from IT hiring teams in the United States, and the sample comprised 24 participants. This included twelve recruiters and hiring managers and twelve WOC actively engaged in the U.S. IT industry. Data collection employed a semi-structured, one-to-one interview guide.

Research findings demonstrated that by making WOC feel more welcome and included, DEI contributed to innovation and productivity in IT organizations by making WOC feel welcomed and included. However, some WOC participants perceived DEI as primarily contributing to collaboration or providing WOC with a sense of belonging or psychological safety. Moreover, the results highlighted organizations' need to actively implement diverse strategies to attract, recruit, and retain WOC. Recommendations from participants included showing a firm commitment to DEI, collaborating with organizations focused on DEI to recruit WOC, addressing unconscious bias in hiring and promotion, fostering an inclusive workplace, and setting up mentorship programs for WOC. They also emphasized highlighting the accomplishments of WOC and enhancing their organizational representation.

Participants reported biases and underrepresentation as challenges to inclusion. The participants indicated two common challenges when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in

the IT sector. These challenges included bias, underrepresentation of WOC at all organizational levels, and a challenge that left other WOC without same-race, same-gender mentors and peers to network for support. Data analysis showed that DEI initiatives could increase productive work culture through increased belongingness and respect for WOC. The participants indicated that DEI initiatives increased productive work cultures for WOC by increasing their sense of belonging and community. Such productive work cultures were increased for WOC because employees who felt valued and respected contributed more. This chapter proceeds to discuss the interpretation of these findings, as well as limitations, recommendations, implications, and the conclusion of the study.

Interpretation of the Findings

The discussion and interpretation of findings were based on the research questions and their respective themes, as described below.

Research Question One

RQ1 posed the question: Why does DEI matter in talent acquisition and the technology sector?

The Impact of DEI on Innovation and Productivity

The research findings demonstrated that DEI contributed to innovation and productivity in IT organizations by making WOC feel welcomed and included. However, some WOC participants perceived DEI as contributing primarily to collaboration or providing WOC with a sense of belonging or psychological safety. Results imply that diversity and inclusivity promote collaboration, innovation, and enhanced productivity in IT firms. Consistent with current findings, previous research demonstrated that DEI calls for employers to recruit employees from different backgrounds with varying demographic compositions to fulfill organizations' corporate social responsibility for the community (Ash & Boyce, 2018).

DEI leads to innovation and productivity by enhancing collaboration among employees from diverse backgrounds. Previous research concurs with these findings by linking organizational performance, motivation, and innovation to DEI and the diverse views, skills, and competencies available to foster growth in different areas (Ballard et al., 2020). The underrepresentation of people of color in the IT sector contributes to the lack of DEI in the workplace, including limited role models to inspire future generations (Alvarez et al., 2020). In alignment with the current results, Ash and Boyce (2018) stated that reaching organizational goals in IT requires understanding how to attract, recruit, and retain talent from marginalized groups and utilizing their unique sociodemographic characteristics. Other studies have concurred with the current results by demonstrating that a lack of diversity in the IT sector will likely affect companies' creativity, innovation, and performance (Alvarez et al., 2020).

The research findings are consistent with the previous literature regarding the effect of diversity, equality, and inclusivity in organizations. For instance, Bogers et al. (2018) reported that the knowledge diversity of employees was positively linked to increased firm openness and innovation. If employees have different experiences, it can lead to innovative ideas (Bogers et al., 2018). However, Elia et al. (2019) found that the impact of cultural diversity became positive when there was an alliance in the exchange of ideas from different cultural exploration activities in the organization irrespective of employees' race and gender. The findings contribute to previous literature by establishing that diversity and inclusivity promote collaboration, innovation, and productivity in IT firms.

Research Question Two

RQ2 was: What talent acquisition strategies can be utilized to attract, recruit, and retain WOC in IT?

Strategies and Initiatives for Enhancing DEI for WOC

The study results revealed that organizations must proactively implement various strategies to attract, recruit, and retain WOC. The participants recommended showcasing commitment to DEI, partnering with DEI-focused organizations to recruit WOC, addressing unconscious bias in hiring and promotion practices, creating a supportive and inclusive workplace, implementing mentorship programs for WOC, highlighting the successes of WOC, and increasing WOC representation. Research results imply that creating a supportive and inclusive and inclusive working environment and implementing mentorship programs leads to increased diversity and representation of WOC.

Similar findings have been reported in other studies. Washington and Roberts (2019) reported that many WOC have the ambition, confidence, desire, and determination to succeed. Therefore, they need support through mentorship. However, despite working hard, WOC lacked structured support and people who would support them in their developmental journey, compared to their White counterparts, especially in tackling the representation of challenges such as biases or underrepresentation. In alignment with the current findings, Smith (2018) established that despite their efforts to overcome racial and stereotyping challenges in their professions, the need for a mentor was imperative. Though many WOC did not fancy White mentors, the limited number of WOC in mentorship programs negatively affected their desire to have a mentor from their minority groups (Hyrynsalmi, 2019). Hyrynsalmi (2019) reiterated that the lack of such programs hindered the developmental process despite the significance of mentoring programs in

advancing women's career advancement. In this regard, Hyrynsalmi (2019) argued that women in STEM fields attributed their ability and success in changing careers to limited mentors and support staff.

Organizations' leaders must implement appropriate strategies to help employees from diverse backgrounds address diversity challenges (Montgomery et al., 2018). For instance, top leadership must be involved in diversity programs. Meanwhile, by shaping organizational climate, leadership support could support effective organizational diversity management (Delgado-Piña et al., 2020). On the contrary, Fassiotto et al. (2020) refuted current study findings by reporting that leadership acknowledging the existence of diversity could influence employees' views and perceptions of DEI. Leaders could participate in different practices, such as mentoring employees to handle diverse opinions and views (Fassiotto et al., 2020; Mitchell et al., 2019). The current research findings add to the related research by revealing that creating a supportive and inclusive working environment and implementing mentorship programs can lead to increased diversity and representation of WOC.

Research Question Three

RQ3 asked: What are the common challenges encountered when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector?

Challenges and Barriers: Biases and Underrepresentation

Participants reported biases and underrepresentation as challenges to inclusion. The participants indicated two common challenges when attracting, recruiting, and retaining WOC in the IT sector. These challenges included bias, underrepresentation of WOC at all organizational levels, and a challenge that left other WOC without same-race, same-gender mentors and peers to network for support. The results imply that the underrepresentation of WOC and bias left

WOC without same-race and same-gender mentors for support, thus hindering diversity. The findings concur with past research, which indicates that the two common challenges to diversity include racial and ethnic underrepresentation of employees in the workplace (Burt et al., 2019a).

The results provide a critical understanding of the challenges to diversity and inclusivity of WOC in the information and technology sector. In contrast to current findings, Armstrong et al. (2018) found that gender stereotypes characterizing WOC as inferior and unable to execute specific tasks were the major basis for the lack of DEI in the technology sector. However, previous study findings indicated that negative perceptions challenging the ability of Black women to perform specific tasks contributed to the lack of DEI in the technology sector, given that the majority were discriminated against during the recruitment and selection process (Jung et al., 2019). Study results contribute to current study results by demonstrating that the underrepresentation of WOC and bias left WOC without same-race and same-gender mentors for support, thus hindering diversity.

Research Question Four

RQ4 examined: What are the perceptions of departmental personnel regarding the impact of DEI initiatives in improving and sustaining productive work cultures in the IT sector for WOC? The theme used to address this question was:

Fostering Belonging and Cultivated Spaces Where WOC Feel Valued and Respected

The data analysis revealed that DEI initiatives could increase productive work culture through increased belongingness and respect for WOC. The participants indicated that DEI initiatives increased productive work cultures for WOC by increasing their sense of belonging and community. Such productive work cultures were increased for WOC because employees who felt valued and respected contributed more to the organization. The research findings imply that DEI of WOC increased productive work cultures by increasing their sense of belonging and community. The results were also reported in other studies. Previous research indicated that organizations with a positive attitude toward diversity had positive employer brands such as person-organization fit for enhanced workplace culture (Tanwar & Kumar, 2019).

The creative workforce attracted technology companies with diversity in workplace equity for both genders (Tanwar & Kumar, 2019). Similar to the study results, other scholars reported that organizations' gender diversity, development opportunities, and reputation in improved workplace equity, acceptance, and belongingness led to the increased positive brand to potential creative and innovative talents (Sharma & Prasad, 2018). In contrast to the current findings, prior research indicated that diversity training is a critical way to address the challenges linked to DEI management (Houser, 2019). The current results are inconsistent with other researchers who indicated that diversity training programs are effective in helping employees in organizations have an enhanced understanding of the need to respect race and gender, such as WOC (Tanwar & Kumar, 2019). In summary, the findings from this research contribute to the body of knowledge highlighting the essential role of DEI in talent acquisition. It demonstrates how DEI initiatives can improve work cultures for WOC by fostering their sense of belonging and community within IT organizations.

Intersecting Findings with Biblical Foundations

In integrating the biblical foundations laid out in Chapter 2 with the study's findings, it becomes evident that the principles of DEI align with scripture. The principle of being made in the "image of God" from Genesis 1:27 highlights the inherent worth and dignity of all people, irrespective of race, gender, or background *(New Living Translation, 2015)*. This verse sets the the tone for the non-discrimantory treatment of all, aligning with the study's advocacy for

equitable hiring practices for WOC in the IT industry. Further, the study's findings are supported by 1 Corinthians 12:12-14, which recaps the idea of functional diversity within unity, likening it to a body with various parts. Each part, or in this case, each member of the organization, brings a unique set of skills and perspectives. The study's data validates this, demonstrating that diverse teams, inclusive of WOC, yield better problem-solving abilities and foster a sense of community. Similarly, Peter's sermon in Acts 2:8-12 and Joel's prophecy in Joel 2:28-29 further emphasize the biblical advocacy for DEI by emphasizing the universality of Christianity and the inclusive nature of the Holy Spirit. This supports the study's findings that an inclusive work environment benefits not just WOC, but the organization as a whole. In summary, the biblical foundations confirms the study's findings, demonstrating that DEI is not merely a societal or organizational ideal but is, in fact, a divine order.

Limitations of the Study

This study encountered several limitations that warrant discussion. The first limitation is that this was the first formal study to be conducted by the researcher. As a result, the researchers' skills may be limited when conducting interviews and data analysis. Another limitation relates to the researcher's novice skills. To address this limitation, the researcher consulted experts in data analysis. Additionally, the researcher considered training in research methods to boost skills, including structuring questionnaires and analyzing data using statistical software.

Another limitation was researcher bias. In qualitative studies, researcher bias occurs when the researcher fails to acknowledge the personal link to the study or preconceived preconceptions and experiences (Patton, 2014). In this study, research bias limited the credibility of the findings. However, bracketing was used to mitigate researcher bias, which entailed researching personal interests and preconceptions about DEI in the IT sector. Finally, the study's scope also presented limitations. The sample comprised hiring team members from the U.S. IT industry, specifically those active on public LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter groups. This geographical limitation poses questions about the transferability and generalizability of the study findings. Additionally, purposive sampling was used, a technique susceptible to researcher bias, which could further undermine the reliability of the research findings.

Recommendations

Recommendations for Future Research

Research bias presented a limitation in the credibility of this study's findings. Although bracketing was employed to address this issue, the researcher suggests that future studies should involve research experts to minimize bias further.

Given the study's geographical focus on hiring teams in the U.S. IT industry, it is recommended that future research extend to other sectors or international IT firms to enhance the transferability and generalizability of results. The study utilized purposive sampling, a technique susceptible to researcher bias and, thus, unreliable findings. Future studies should consider employing random sampling methods to mitigate this issue.

Lastly, as the findings indicated that DEI positively impacts innovation and productivity by creating an inclusive environment for WOC, future research should delve deeper into this relationship.

Recommendations for Practice

Organizations are advised to institute mentorship programs to bolster DEI, as such programs have been shown to advance career development for women (Hyrynsalmi, 2019). Managers can use these findings to develop policies and guidelines to build awareness programs to inform employees of the need for cultural diversity for enhanced innovation and productivity. Fostering teamwork and collaboration promotes diversity and inclusion among employees regardless of their gender or racial affiliations. Recruitment teams can use the findings to promote the selection and retention of WOC in organizations to improve diversity.

Implications

Implications for Policy and Positive Social Change

The study findings have several practical implications. The findings may improve diversity practices in the IT industry by providing stakeholders and managers with valuable information on barriers and facilitators influencing the recruitment and retention of people of color in the workplace, especially WOC. Managers in technology sectors may use the findings to implement mentorship programs to promote DEI in organizations. Mentorship programs provide awareness and information on the importance of cultural diversity in the workplace, thus enhancing WOC's inclusivity in the IT industry. Organizations in the IT industry may also promote policy changes. They may use the study results to implement diversity policies that promote equal opportunities for employees from different racial backgrounds during recruitment, promotion, and retention in the IT sector.

Theoretically, these findings contribute to intersectionality and social learning theory by identifying factors contributing to the underrepresentation of WOC in the IT sector, a field not often explored by researchers. Race and gender were the primary building blocks for the intersectionality theory that seeks to explain the underrepresentation of WOC in the workplace. Research findings contribute to the theory by identifying various strategies for improving diversity, including implementing mentorship programs and leadership in the IT sector. For instance, female mentors have increased the number of women in the IT sector and STEM

courses, thus increasing DEI. McHugh (2018) noted a lack of interest in IT for many women, especially WOC. Many WOC have attributed their failure to enroll in STEM courses and STEM-related careers to a lack of role models and mentors. The findings may help IT firm managers create mentorship and awareness programs to provide information regarding the diversity and inclusivity of WOC in the IT sector.

Understanding common barriers to diversity, equity, and inclusivity would help policymakers implement policies to promote diversity and equity, including mentorship programs to minimize bias and underrepresentation of WOC. Such DEI initiatives can increase productive work culture in organizations because employees feel a sense of belongingness and value.

Theoretical Implications

Intersectionality theory served as the primary foundation for exploring the lived experiences of minority women in the technology sector and how gender and race intersect to form diversity-related barriers. Multiple identities underscored multiple identities and systemic discrimination resulting from their identities that block minorities from realizing equal opportunities in the workplace (Crenshaw, 2018). In this regard, intersectionality theory applied to this study because it acknowledges the systemic definition of minorities in the workplace and how gender and race create career growth barriers to workplace diversity. Therefore, this study used the theory to formulate research questions exploring how gender and race are diversity barriers for minority women in technology.

The study findings add to the theory by establishing bias and underrepresentation of WOC at all organizational levels as key challenges that left other WOC without same-race, same-gender mentors and peers with whom to network for support. Intersectionality theorists

state how gender and race intersect to form diversity-related barriers. Results contributed to this theory by revealing that DEI initiatives increased productive work cultures for WOC by increasing their sense of belonging and community as female gender in the IT sector. Such productive work cultures were increased for WOC because employees who felt valued and respected contributed more to the organization. The implication is that the findings concurred with the theory regarding the challenges and barriers, such as the lack of diversity and equity for the female gender in the IT sector, leaving WOC without same-race mentors and role models.

Conclusion

DEI remained a critical issue of concern, especially among WOC. The study explores perceptions of hiring managers and WOC in the IT industry regarding hiring strategies that may benefit talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote DEI of WOC in technology jobs. Research findings provide key insights into the barriers to DEI of WOC in the IT sector. Enhanced DEI makes WOC feel welcomed and included, thus contributing to innovation and productivity in IT organizations. Diversity, equity, and inclusivity also contribute primarily to collaboration or providing WOC with a sense of belonging or psychological safety. Organizations must proactively implement various strategies to attract, recruit, and retain WOC.

Therefore, there is a need for commitment to DEI, partnering with DEI-focused organizations to recruit WOC, addressing unconscious bias in hiring and promotion practices, creating a supportive and inclusive workplace, implementing WOC mentorship programs, highlighting WOC successes, and increasing WOC representation. Challenges such as bias and underrepresentation of WOC at all organizational levels left other WOC without same-race, same-gender mentors and peers to network for support. As a result, DEI initiatives through mentorship programs can increase productive work culture, increasing belongingness and respect for WOC. WOC can have improved work cultures, thus feeling valued, respected, and represented. Managers in technology sectors may use the findings to implement mentorship programs to promote DEI in organizations. More research should be conducted on how implementing mentorship programs would help improve DEI in workplaces. The findings inform future researchers concerning gender and racial diversity in the IT sector.

REFERENCES

- Abaker, M. O. S. M., Al-Titi, O. A. K., & Al-Nasr, N. S. (2019). Organizational policies and diversity management in Saudi Arabia. *The International Journal*, 41(3), 454-474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-05-2017-0104</u>
- Alfred, M. V., Ray, S. M., & Johnson, M. A. (2018). Advancing women of color in STEM: An imperative for U.S. global competitiveness. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *21*(1), 114–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422318814551
- Alvarez, A., Burge, L., Emanuel, S., Gates, A., Goldman, S., Griffin, J., & Washington, G.
 (2020). Google tech exchange: an industry-academic partnership that prepares black and latinx undergraduates for high-tech careers. *Journal of Computing Sciences in Colleges*, *35*(10), 46-52. https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/3417699.3417706
 https://www.ccsc.org/publications/journals/SW2020.pdf#page=46
- AnitaB.org. (2021). Top companies for women technologists key findings & insights report. https://anitab.org/research-and-impact/top-companies/2021-results/
- Annabi, H., & Lebovitz, S. (2018). Improving the retention of women in the IT workforce: An investigation of gender diversity interventions in the USA. *information Systems Journal*, 28(6), 1049-1081. https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12182
- Armstrong, D. J., Riemenschneider, C. K., & Giddens, L. G. (2018). The advancement and persistence of women in the information technology profession: An extension of Ahuja's gendered theory of IT career stages. *information Systems Journal*, 28(6), 1082-1124. https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12185
- Ash, M., & Boyce, J. K. (2018). Racial disparities in pollution exposure and employment at US industrial facilities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(42), 10636-10641. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1721640115

- Báez, A. B., Báez-García, A. J., Flores-Muñoz, F., & Gutiérrez-Barroso, J. (2018). Gender diversity, corporate governance and firm behavior: The challenge of emotional management. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 24(3), 121-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2018.07.001
- Ballard, D., Allen, B., Ashcraft, K., Ganesh, S., McLeod, P., & Zoller, H. (2020). When words do not matter: Identifying actions to effect diversity, equity, and inclusion in the academy. *Management Communication Quarterly*, *34*(4), 590-616. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0893318920951643
- Bandura, A. (2011). Social cognitive theory. *Handbook of social psychological theories*, 2012, 349-373. https://www.torrossa.com/en/resources/an/5017496#page=370
- Bell, E., Meriläinen, S., Taylor, S., & Tienari, J. (2019). Time's up! Feminist theory and activism meets organization studies. *Human Relations*, 72(1), 4-22.

https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=QV1VWg0AAAAJ&hl=en&oi=sra

- Bendels, M. H., Müller, R., Brueggmann, D., & Groneberg, D. A. (2018). Gender disparities in high-quality research revealed by nature index journals. *Plos One*, 13(1), 34-39. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189136
- Banerjee, P., Saini, G. K., & Kalyanaram, G. (2020). The role of brands in recruitment: Mediating role of employer brand equity. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 58(2), 173-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12209</u>
- Bogers, M., Foss, N. J., & Lyngsie, J. (2018). The "human side" of open innovation: The role of employee diversity in firm-level openness. *Research Policy*, 47(1), 218-231.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.10.012

- Botella, C., Rueda, S., López-Iñesta, E., & Marzal, P. (2019). Gender diversity in STEM disciplines: A multiple factor problem. *Entropy*, 21(1), 30. https://doi.org/10.3390/e21010030
- Brannon, T. N., Carter, E. R., Murdock-Perriera, L. A., & Higginbotham, G. D. (2018). From backlash to inclusion for all: Instituting diversity efforts to maximize benefits across group lines. *Social issues and policy review*, *12*(1), 57-90. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12040
- Brown, D. A. (2014). Diversity and the high-tech industry. *Ala. CR & CLL Rev.*, *6*, 95. <u>https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/alabcrcl6&div=8&id=&page=</u>
- Burt, B. A., McKen, A., Burkhart, J., Hormell, J., & Knight, A. (2019a). Black men in engineering graduate education: Experiencing racial microaggressions within the advisor–advisee relationship. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 88(4), 493-508. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.88.4.0493
- Burt, B. A., Williams, K. L., & Palmer, G. J. (2019b). It takes a village: The role of emic and etic adaptive strengths in the persistence of Black men in engineering graduate programs. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(1), 39-74. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0002831218789595
- Cain, C. C. (2021). Beyond the IT artifact-studying the underrepresentation of black men and women in IT. *Journal of Global information Technology Management*, 24(3), 12-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198X.2021.1954315
- Cain, C. C., & Trauth, E. (2017). Black men in IT: Theorizing an autoethnography of a black man's journey into IT within the United States of America. *ACM SIGMIS Database: The*

DATABASE for Advances in information Systems, 48(2), 35-51.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3084179.3084184

- Cain, C. C. (2021). Establishing a research agenda for broadening participation of black men in computing, informatics, and engineering. *Technology in Society*, 8, 101-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101790
- Calaza, K. C., Erthal, F. C., Pereira, M. G., Macario, K. C., Daflon, V. T., David, I. P., Castro, H. C., Vargas, M. D., Martins, L. B., Stariolo, J. B., Volchan, E., & de Oliveira, L. (2021).
 Facing racism and sexism in science by fighting against social implicit bias: A Latina and black woman's perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 13-34.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.671481
- Cary, F., & Parker, K. (2019, December 31). Racial diversity and discrimination in the U.S. stem workforce. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/01/09/blacks-in-stem-jobs-areespecially-concerned-about-diversity-and-discrimination-in-the-workplace/
- Chakraborty, S. (2019). The business case for gender diversity in the Indian information technology industry. In *Inequality and Organizational Practice* (pp. 211-233). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11644-6 10
- Chakravorti, B. (2020). To increase diversity, U.S. tech companies need to follow the talent. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2020/12/to-increase-diversity-u-s-techcompanies-need-to-follow-thetalent#:~:text=Google's%202020%20annual%20diversity%20report,32.5%25%20employe es%20identify%20as%20women.
- Channaoui, N., Bui, K., & Mittman, I. (2020). Efforts of diversity and inclusion, cultural competency, and equity in the genetic counseling profession: A snapshot and
reflection. Journal of Genetic Counseling, 29(2), 166-181. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgc4.1241

- Chaudhry, I. S., Paquibut, R. Y., & Tunio, M. N. (2021). Do workforce diversity, inclusion practices, & organizational characteristics contribute to organizational innovation?
 evidence from the U.A.E. *Cogent Business & Management*, 8(1), 13-19.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2021.1947549
- Ciolpan, G. (2020). Study on communication barriers between medical teams. *European Finance, Business and Regulation EUFIRE 2020*, 6, 121-123.
 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/2020/links/5f85774b458515b7cf7c60e4
- Cletus, H. E., Mahmood, N. A., Umar, A., & Ibrahim, A. D. (2018). Prospects and challenges of workplace diversity in modern day organizations: A critical review. *HOLISTICA–Journal* of Business and Public Administration, 9(2), 35-52. https://doi.org/10.2478/hjbpa-2018-0011
- Cohendet, P., Simon, L., & Mehouachi, C. (2021). From business ecosystems to ecosystems of innovation: the case of the video game industry in Montréal. *Industry and Innovation*, 28(8), 1046-1076. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2020.1793737
- Corneille, M., Lee, A., Allen, S., Cannady, J., & Guess, A. (2019). Barriers to the advancement of women of color faculty in STEM. *Equity, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 38(3), 328–348. https://doi.org/10.1108/edi-09-2017-0199
- Crenshaw, K. (1990). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stan. L. Rev.*, *43*, 1241. https://www.bwjp.org/assets/mapping-the-margins-crenshaw.pdf

- Crenshaw, K. (2018). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A Black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory, and antiracist politics [1989]. In *Feminist legal theory* (pp. 57-80). Routledge.
- Dahanayake, P., Rajendran, D., Selvarajah, C., & Ballantyne, G. (2018). Justice and fairness in the workplace: a trajectory for managing diversity. *Equity, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 37(5), 470-490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-11-2016-0105</u>
- Dai, J. C., Agochukwu-Mmonu, N., & Hittelman, A. B. (2019). Strategies for attracting women and underrepresented minorities in urology. *Current Urology Reports*, 20(10), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11934-019-0921-5
- Dean, S., & Bhuiyan, J. (2020). Why are black and Latino people still kept out of the tech industry? Los Angeles Times. <u>https://www.latimes.com/business/technology/story/2020-</u> 06-24/tech-started-publicly-taking-lack-of-diversity-seriously-in-2014-why-has-so-littlechanged-for-black-workers
- Delgado-Piña, M. I., Rodríguez-Ruiz, Ó., Rodríguez-Duarte, A., & Sastre-Castillo, M. Á. (2020). Gender diversity in Spanish banks: Trickle-down and productivity effects. *Sustainability*, *12*(5), 2113. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12052113
- Dulock, H. L. (1993). Research design: Descriptive research. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, *10*(4), 154-157. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F104345429301000406
- Ellemers, N. (2018). Gender stereotypes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 69(1), 275–298. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011719
- Elia, S., Petruzzelli, A. M., & Piscitello, L. (2019). The impact of cultural diversity on innovation performance of MNC subsidiaries in strategic alliances. *Journal of Business Research*, 98, 204-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.062</u>

- Enders, F. T., Golembiewski, E. H., Pacheco-Spann, L. M., Allyse, M., Mielke, M. M., & Balls-Berry, J. E. (2021). Building a framework for inclusion in health services research:
 Development of and pre-implementation faculty and staff attitudes toward the diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) plan at Mayo Clinic. *Journal of Clinical and Translational Science*, 5(1), 12-19. https://doi.org/10.1017/cts.2020.575
- Fassiotto, M., Flores, B., Victor, R., Altamirano, J., Garcia, L. C., Kotadia, S., & Maldonado, Y. (2020). Rank equity index: Measuring parity in the advancement of underrepresented populations in academic medicine. *Academic Medicine*, 95(12), 1844-1852. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000003720
- Ferguson, K. E. (2017). Feminist theory today. *Annual Review of Political Science*, *20*, 269-286. https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-polisci-052715-111648
- Fuller, J. B., Langer, C., Nitschke, J., O'Kane, L., Sigelman, M., & Taska, B. (2022). The emerging degree reset. *American Enterprise Institute Research Papers*.
- Gassam, J. Z., & Salter, N. P. (2020). Considerations for hiring external consultants to deliver diversity trainings. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 72(4), 275– 287. https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000170
- Gibbs, K. D., Han, A., & Lun, J. (2019). Demographic diversity in teams: the challenges,
 benefits, and management strategies. In *Strategies for Team Science Success* (pp. 197-205). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1496125</u>

Gill, G. K., McNally, M. J., & Berman, V. (2018). Effective diversity, equity, and inclusion practices. *Healthcare Management Forum*, 31(5), 196–199. https://doi.org/10.1177/0840470418773785

- Goldberg, S. R., Kessler, L. L., & Govern, M. (2019). Fostering diversity and inclusion in the accounting workplace. *The CPA Journal*, *89*(12), 50-57.
 https://www.proquest.com/openview/9a14b3b402935311276028f7e60225a3/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=41798
- González, M.J., Cortina, C., Rodríguez, J. (2019). The role of gender stereotypes in hiring: a field experiment. *European Sociological Review*, 35(2), 187-204. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcy055
- Gorbacheva, E., Beekhuyzen, J., vom Brocke, J., & Becker, J. (2018). Directions for research on gender imbalance in the IT profession. *European Journal of information Systems*, 28(1), 43–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/0960085x.2018.1495893
- Goy, S. C., Wong, Y. L., Low, W. Y., Noor, S. N. M., Fazli-Khalaf, Z., Onyeneho, N., &
 GinikaUzoigwe, A. (2018). Swimming against the tide in STEM education and gender
 equality: A problem of recruitment or retention in Malaysia. *Studies in Higher Education*, 43(11), 1793-1809. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2016.1277383
- Grissom, A. R. (2018). The alert collector: Workplace diversity and inclusion. *Reference & User* Services Quarterly, 57(4), 243-247. https://doi.org/10.5860/rusq.57.4.6700
- Gruman, G. (2020). The state of ethnic minorities in U.S. tech: 2020. Computerworld. https://www.computerworld.com/article/3574917/the-state-of-ethnic-minorities-in-us-tech-2020.html
- Heyns, M. M., & Kerr, M. D. (2018). Generational differences in workplace motivation. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 16(1), 1-10. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC-1351bee6b5</u>

- Hickey, P. J., & Cui, Q. (2020). Gender diversity in US construction industry leaders. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 36(5), 69-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000838</u>
- Houser, K. A. (2019). Can AI solve the diversity problem in the tech industry: Mitigating noise and bias in employment decision-making. *Stan. Tech. L. Rev.*, 22, 290. https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Houser_20190830_test.pdf
- Hyrynsalmi, S. M. (2019). The underrepresentation of women in the software industry: Thoughts from career-changing women. 2019 IEEE/ACM 2nd International Workshop on Gender Equity in Software Engineering (GE). https://doi.org/10.1109/ge.2019.00008
- Hyrynsalmi, S. M. (2019, May). The underrepresentation of women in the software industry: thoughts from career-changing women. In 2019 IEEE/ACM 2nd International Workshop on Gender Equality in Software Engineering (GE) (pp. 1-4). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ge.2019.00008
- Ilumoka, A., Milanovic, I., & Grant, N. (2017). An effective industry-based mentoring approach for the recruitment of women and minorities in engineering. *Journal of STEM Education: Innovations and Research*, 18(3), 45-49.

https://www.jstem.org/jstem/index.php/JSTEM/article/view/2102

Isaac, O., Abdullah, Z., Aldholay, A. H., & Ameen, A. A. (2019). Antecedents and outcomes of internet usage within organisations in Yemen: An extension of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) model. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 24(4), 335-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2018.12.003</u>

- Jonsen, K., Point, S., Kelan, E. K., & Grieble, A. (2021). Diversity and inclusion branding: a five-country comparison of corporate websites. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(3), 616-649. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1496125
- Jonsen, K., Point, S., Kelan, E. K., & Grieble, A. (2021). Diversity and inclusion branding: a five-country comparison of corporate websites. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(3), 616-649. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1496125
- Jung, L., Clark, U. Y., Patterson, L., & Pence, T. (2017). Closing the gender gap in the technology major. *information Systems Education Journal*, 15(1), 26-29. http://isedj.org/2017-15/n1/ISEDJv15n1p26.html
- Karakhan, A. A., Gambatese, J. A., Simmons, D. R., & Al-Bayati, A. J. (2021). Identifying pertinent indicators for assessing and fostering diversity, equity, and inclusion of the construction workforce. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, *37*(2), 04020114. https://ascelibrary.org/doi/abs/10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000885
- Kemper, L. E., Bader, A. K., & Froese, F. J. (2018). Promoting gender equity in a challenging environment: The case of Scandinavian subsidiaries in Japan. *Personnel Review*, 13(45-49). https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-02-2017-0035
- Koellen, T. (2021). Diversity management: A critical review and agenda for the future. *Journal* of Management Inquiry, 30(3), 259-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1056492619868025</u>
- Kundu, S. C., & Mor, A. (2017). Workforce diversity and organizational performance: A study of IT industry in India. *Employee Relations*, 39(2), 160-183. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-06-2015-0114
- Kutch, B. D. M., & Kutch, J. S. M. (2022). Innovation through diversity and inclusion: A roadmap for higher education information technology leaders. In *Research Anthology on*

Changing Dynamics of Diversity and Safety in the Workforce (pp. 1811-1833). IGI Global. https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/innovation-through-diversity-and-inclusion/288012

- Lala, R., Baker, S. R., & Muirhead, V. E. (2020). A Critical analysis of underrepresentation of racialised minorities in the UK dental workforce. *Community Dental Health*, 38, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1922/cdh_iadrlala08
- Lamichhane, B. D. (2021). Managing work force diversity: Key successful factors. *Nepalese Journal of Management Research*, *1*, 76-86. https://doi.org/10.3126/njmgtres.v1i0.37326
- Liberatore, M. J., & Wagner, W. (2020, September 28). Women equal men in computing skill, but are less confident. https://theconversation.com/women-equal-men-in-computing-skillbut-are-less-confident-144170
- Literat, I., & Brough, M. (2019). From ethical to equitable social media technologies:
 Amplifying underrepresented youth voices in digital technology design. *Journal of Media Ethics*, 34(3), 132-145. https://doi.org/10.1080/23736992.2019.1638259
- Liu, S.-N. C., Brown, S. E., & Sabat, I. E. (2019). Patching the "Leaky pipeline": Interventions for women of color faculty in STEM academia. *Archives of Scientific Psychology*, 7(1), 32–39. https://doi.org/10.1037/arc0000062
- Livingston, R. (2020). How to promote racial equity in the workplace. *Harvard Business Review*, 9(17), 64-73. <u>https://socialjustice.nsbe.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Harvard-Business-Review.pdf</u>
- Luanglath, N., Ali, M., & Mohannak, K. (2019). Top management team gender diversity and productivity: The role of board gender diversity. *Equity, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 38(1), 71–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/edi-04-2018-0067

- Lu, L., Li, F., Leung, K., Savani, K., & Morris, M. W. (2018). When can culturally diverse teams be more creative? The role of leaders' benevolent paternalism. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(4), 402-415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2238</u>
- Kozar, L. (2017, June 5). *How gender stereotypes are still affecting women in Tech*. WITI. https://witi.com/articles/1017/How-Gender-Stereotypes-are-Still-Affecting-Women-in-Tech/
- Maican, C. I., Cazan, A. M., Lixandroiu, R. C., & Dovleac, L. (2019). A study on academic staff personality and technology acceptance: The case of communication and collaboration applications. *Computers & Education*, 128, 113-131.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.09.010

Marrun, N. A., Plachowski, T. J., & Clark, C. (2019). A critical race theory analysis of the 'demographic diversity' gap in schools: college Students of Color speak their truth. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 22(6), 836-857.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2019.1579181

- McGee, K. (2018). The influence of gender, and race/ethnicity on advancement in information technology (IT). *information and Organization*, 28(1), 1-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2017.12.001
- McKinnon, M., & O'Connell, C. (2020). Perceptions of stereotypes applied to women who publicly communicate their stem work. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 7(1), 12-13. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-020-00654-0
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.

Meyenburg, I., & Selmanovic, S. (2020). Gender and inequality in the workplace:

lessons institutional and Marxist-feminist perspectives. *Handbook of Labor, Human Resources and Population Economics*, 17(9), 1-28.

https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-319-57365-6 39-1.pdf

- Miles, M. L., Agger, C. A., Roby, R. S., & Morton, T. R. (2021). Who's who: How "women of color" are (or are not) represented in STEM education research. *Science Education*, 106(2), 229-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21694</u>
- Mitchell, K. M., & Martin, J. (2018). Gender bias in student evaluations. *PS: Political Science & Politics*, *51*(03), 648–652. https://doi.org/10.1017/s104909651800001x
- Mitchell, U. A., Chebli, P. G., Ruggiero, L., & Muramatsu, N. (2019). The digital divide in health-related technology use: The significance of race/ethnicity. *The Gerontologist*, 59(1), 6-14. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny138
- Morrison-Smith, S., & Ruiz, J. (2020). Challenges and barriers in virtual teams: a literature review. *SN Applied Sciences*, 2(9), 1-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-2801-5</u>
- Montgomery, K., Chester, J., & Kopp, K. (2018). Health wearables: Ensuring fairness, preventing discrimination, and promoting equity in an emerging Internet-of-Things environment. *Journal of information Policy*, *8*, 34-77.

https://doi.org/10.5325/jinfopoli.8.2018.0034

- Morton, & Nkrumah, T. (2021). A day of reckoning for the White academy: reframing success for African American women in STEM. *Cultural Studies of Science Education.*, 16(2), 485–494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-020-10004-w</u>
- Mulki, S., & Stone-Sabali, S. (2021). Recruit With Diversity and Inclusion in Mind. *Journal -American Water Works Association*, 113(1), 6-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/awwa.1646</u>

Murphy, K., Strand, L., Theron, L., & Ungar, M. (2021). "I just gotta have tough skin":
Women's experiences working in the oil and gas industry in Canada. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, 8(2), 100882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2021.02.002</u>

Murray, T. A., & Loyd, V. (2021). Advancing racial justice and diversity through equity and inclusion. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 60(10), 543-544.

https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20210908-01

- National Center for Women and information Technology (2021). *By the numbers*. <u>https://ncwit.org/resource/bythenumbers/</u>
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). *Transforming trajectories* for women of color in tech. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/26345
- Needle, D. (2021). Women in technology statistics: The Latest Research and trends. WhatIs.com. https://whatis.techtarget.com/feature/Women-in-technology-statistics-The-latest-researchand-

trends#:~:text=A%202020%20study%20by%20the,technologists%20at%2051%20particip ating%20companies.

New International Bible. (2011). Zondervan. (Original work published 1978)

New Living Translation (2015). Wheaton, III. Tyndale House Publishers.

Nizami, N. (2019). Changing work organisations and implications for decent work: A case study of India's information technology industry. *The Indian Journal of Labour Economics*, 62(3), 473-498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41027-019-00184-7

- Nkomo, S. M., Bell, M. P., Roberts, L. M., Joshi, A., & Thatcher, S. M. (2019). Diversity at a critical juncture: New theories for a complex phenomenon. *Academy of Management Review*, 44(3), 498-517. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2019.0103</u>
- Noon, M. (2017). Pointless diversity training: Unconscious bias, new racism and agency. *Work, Employment and Society*, 32(1), 198–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017017719841

Oberai, H., & Anand, I. M. (2018). Unconscious bias: Thinking without thinking. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, *26*(6),14-17.

https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-05-2018-0102

- Patton, M. Q. (2014). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice*. Sage Publications.
- Peña, K., Hinsen, K., & Wilbur, M. (2017). Why diversity programs fail and how to fix them. SMPTE 2017 Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.5594/m001773
- Piller, I., Zhang, J., & Li, J. (2020). Linguistic diversity in a time of crisis: Language challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Multilingua*, 39(5), 503-515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/multi-</u> 2020-0136
- Pritchard, A., McIntosh, K., & McChesney, J. (2019). Diversity in higher education information technology: From today's workforce to tomorrow's leaders. *College and University Professional Association for Human Resources*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED597742.pdf

Purnell, L. D., & Fenkl, E. A. (2019). Transcultural diversity and health care. In *Handbook for culturally competent care* (pp. 1-6). Springer, Cham. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-21946-8

- Rideau, R. (2021). "We're just not acknowledged": An examination of the identity taxation of full-time non-tenure-track women of color faculty members. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 14(2), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000139
- Rodó-de-Zárate, M., & Baylina, M. (2018). Intersectionality in feminist geographies. *Gender, Place & Culture, 25*(4), 547-553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369X.2018.1453489</u>
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, *23*(4), 334–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g
- Schroth, H. (2019). Are you ready for Gen Z in the workplace? *California Management Review*, 61(3), 5-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0008125619841006</u>
- Seidemann, I., & Weißmüller, K. S. (2022). Conceptual foundations of workforce homogeneity in the public sector. Insights from a systematic review on causes, consequences, and blind spots. *Public Management Review, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print), 1-23.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2022.2084770</u>.
- Sequeria, J. M., Weeks, K. P., Bell, M. P., & Gibbs, S. R. (2018). Making the case for diversity as a strategic business tool in small firm survival and success. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 28(3), 31-35. https://aquila.usm.edu/fac_pubs/15905
- Sharma, R., & Prasad, A. (2018). Employer brand and its unexplored impact on intent to join. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 26(3), 536-566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-11-2017-1280</u>
- Shifna, A. (2021). Societal barriers that hinder Maldivian women from succeeding in information technology sector jobs. *International Journal of Social Research & Innovation*, 5(1), 27-46. https://ijsri.villacollege.edu.mv/index.php/ijsri/article/view/29/25

- Shore, L. M., Cleveland, J. N., & Sanchez, D. (2018). Inclusive workplaces: A review and model. *Human Resource Management Review*, 28(2), 176-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.07.003
- Solomon, A., Moon, D., Roberts, A. L., & Gilbert, J. E. (2018, February). Not just Black and not just a woman: Black women belonging in computing. In 2018 Research on Equity and Sustained Participation in Engineering, Computing, and Technology (RESPECT) (pp. 1-5). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/RESPECT.2018.8491700
- Spector, N. D., Asante, P. A., Marcelin, J. R., Poorman, J. A., Larson, A. R., Salles, A., & Silver, J. K. (2019). Women in pediatrics: Progress, barriers, and opportunities for equity, diversity, and inclusion. *Pediatrics*, 144(5), 23-35.
 https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/144/5/e20192149
- Syed, J., & Ozbilgin, M. (2019). *Managing diversity and inclusion: An international perspective*. Sage.
- Tamunomiebi, M. D., & John-Eke, E. C. (2020). Workplace diversity: Emerging issues in contemporary reviews. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v10-i2/6926
- Tanwar, K., & Kumar, A. (2019). Employer brand, person-organisation fit and employer of choice: Investigating the moderating effect of social media. *Personnel Review*, 48(3), 799-823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-10-2017-0299</u>
- Tedrick, S. (2020). Women of color in technology: A blueprint for inspiring and mentoring the next generation of technology innovators. Wiley & Sons.
- Tarki, A. (2019, August 13). How to Avoid Groupthink When Hiring. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from <u>https://hbr.org/2019/08/how-to-avoid-groupthink-when-hiring</u>.

Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022

Thier, J. (2022). *A quarter-million qualified women of color are currently missing from the technology space. Here's one solution to the problem*. <u>https://fortune.com/2022/03/24/a-quarter-million-women-of-color-are-missing-from-tech/</u>

- Thomas, J. O., Joseph, N., Williams, A., Crum, C., & Burge, J. (2018). Speaking truth to power: Exploring the intersectional experiences of black women in computing. 2018 Research on Equity and Sustained Participation in Engineering, Computing, and Technology (RESPECT), 18-20. https://doi.org/10.1109/respect.2018.8491718
- Tőkés, G. E. (2020). Employer brand and identity of software and it companies from CLUJ-NAPOCA as reflected in their website content. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov, Series VII: Social Sciences and Law, 13*(1-Suppl), 189-200. https://doi.org/10.31926/but.ssl.2020.13.62.3.19
- Uysal, H. T., & Ak, M. (2020). Invisible barriers in career processes: Glass ceiling syndrome and career anchors. *Agathos*, *11*(2), 255-285.

https://go.openathens.net/redirector/liberty.edu?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarlyjournals/invisible-barriers-career-processes-glass-ceiling/docview/2462486807/se-2

- Varma, R. (2018). US science and engineering workforce: Underrepresentation of women and minorities. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(5), 692-697. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0002764218768847
- Verreynne, M. L., Williams, A. M., Ritchie, B. W., Gronum, S., & Betts, K. S. (2019).
 Innovation diversity and uncertainty in small and medium sized tourism firms. *Tourism Management*, 72, 257-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.11.019</u>

Vickers, L. (2017). Achbita and Bougnaoui: One step forward and two steps back for religious diversity in the workplace. *European Labour Law Journal*, 8(3), 232-257. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2031952517724897

- Weech-Maldonado, R., Dreachslin, J. L., Epané, J. P., Gail, J., Gupta, S., & Wainio, J. A. (2018).
 Hospital cultural competency as a systematic organizational intervention: Key findings from the national center for healthcare leadership diversity demonstration project. *Health care management review*, 43(1), 30-41. https://doi.org/10.1097/hmr.00000000000128
- White, S. K. (2021). 20 professional organizations focused on diversity in Technology. CIO. Retrieved January 25, 2022, from https://www.cio.com/article/193688/professionalorganizations-focused-on-diversity-in-technology.html
- White, S. K. (2021). *Women in technology statistics: The hard truths of an uphill battle*. CIO. https://www.cio.com/article/201905/women-in-technology-statistics-the-hard-truths-ofan-uphill-battle.html
- Whitney, T., & Taylor, V. (2018). Increasing women and underrepresented minorities in computing: The landscape and what you can do. *Computer*, 51(10), 24-31. https://doi.org/10.1109/MC.2018.3971359
- Wingfield, A. H. (2021, January 6). Women are advancing in the workplace, but women of color still lag behind. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/essay/women-are-advancing-inthe-workplace-but-women-of-color-still-lag-behind/

Williams, J. B. (2019). Diversity as a trade secret. GEO. LJ, 107, 1685. https://www.law.georgetown.edu/georgetown-law-journal/wpcontent/uploads/sites/26/2019/07/Diversity-as-a-Trade-Secret.pdf

- Williamson, S., & Foley, M. (2018). Unconscious bias training: The 'silver bullet' for gender equity?. Australian Journal of Public Administration, 77(3), 355-359. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12313
- Woods, M. (2018). Precarious rural cosmopolitanism: Negotiating globalization, migration and diversity in Irish small towns. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 64, 164-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.03.014</u>
- Yanaprasart, P., & Lüdi, G. (2018). Diversity and multilingual challenges in academic settings. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 21(7), 825-840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13670050.2017.1308311</u>
- Yang, Y., & Carroll, D. W. (2018). Gendered microaggressions in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics. *Leadership and research in Education*, 4, 28-45. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1174441.pdf

APPENDIX A: RECRUITMENT FLYER

Research Participants Needed

INTEGRATING DEI STRATEGIES INTO TALENT ACQUISITION TO RECRUIT AND RETAIN WOMEN OF COLOR IN INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

This qualitative, descriptive study aims to explore strategies to implement in talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion of women of color in technology. Participants will be asked to participate in a series of virtual interviews, which will be approximately one hour and Participate in a 30-to-60-minute virtual interview.

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study. Benefits to society include a better understanding the strategies to implement in talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion of women of color in technology.

If you would like to participate, contact the researcher at the phone number or email address provided below.

A consent document will be given to you one week before the interview/focus group.

Mia Trahan, a doctoral candidate at Liberty University, is conducting this study.

APPENDIX B: CONSENT FORM

Title of the Project: INTEGRATING DEI STRATEGIES INTO TALENT ACQUISITION TO RECRUIT AND RETAIN WOMEN OF COLOR IN INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY **Principal Investigator:** Mia Trahan, Ph.D. Student, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be a recruiting officer or a woman of color nurse aged 18 years working in technology sector. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about, and why is it being done?

This qualitative, descriptive study aims to explore strategies to implement in talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion of women of color in technology.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Participate in a series of virtual interviews for approximately one hour.
- 2. Participate in the member-checking process of your transcripts.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from participating in this study.

Benefits to society include a better understanding of strategies to implement in talent acquisition and the candidate selection process to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion of women of color in technology.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life. Being in this type of study involves some risk of minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset. Being in this study would not risk your safety or well-being.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. Data collected from you may be shared for use in future research studies or with other researchers. If data collected from you is shared, any information that could identify you, if applicable, will be removed before the data is shared.

In this study, participant responses will be kept confidential through the use of pseudonyms. Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation. Data will be stored on a password-locked computer and may be used in future presentations. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted from personal computer's hard disk and shredded hard copies. Interviews/focus groups will be recorded and transcribed using phone and other internal audio recording devices in Skype. Recordings will be stored on a password-locked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings. There are limitations to confidentiality in this study because confidentiality cannot be guaranteed when participants accidentally reveal indemnifying information during the interviews.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty university or your current healthcare facility.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Mia Trahan. You may ask any questions you have now.

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

The researcher has my permission to audio-record me as part of my participation in this study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

APPENDIX C: INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Demographic Questionnaire

Please tick where appropriate

How do you describe yourself?

- Male
- Female
- Other (with a blank entry field for the participant to self-identify)
- Prefer not to answer

What is your age?

- Under 15
- 16-24
- 25-34
- 35-44
- Over 50
- Prefer not to say

What is your ethnic background?

- White / Caucasian
- Asian Eastern
- Asian Indian
- Hispanic
- African-American
- Native-American
- Mixed race

What is the highest level of education you have achieved?

- Master's degree or above
- Bachelor's degree
- Highschool
- Other (with a blank entry field for the participant to self-identify)
- I prefer not to say

What is your employment status?

- Full-time
- Part-time
- Contract/ Temporary
- Unemployed
- Unable to work
- Other (with a blank entry field for the participant to self-identify)
- I prefer not to say

What is the level of your annual household income?

- Less than \$25,000
- \$25,000 \$50,000
- \$50,000 \$100,000
- \$100,000 \$200,000
- More than \$200,000
- I prefer not to say

Interview Questions for Hiring Teams

I am interested in learning more about how the IT industry is recruiting individuals from diverse backgrounds.

1. What impact can talent acquisition diversity and inclusion initiatives have on improving

and sustaining productive work cultures in the information technology industry for

women of color?

- 2. What challenges have you encountered when attracting, recruiting, and retaining women of color in the information technology sector?
- 3. What strategies in hiring have you found to be effective in attracting, engaging, and hiring women of color for technical roles?
- 4. What can organizations do better to increase the representation of women of color in information technology?

Interview questions For Women of Color

- What impact can talent acquisition diversity and inclusion initiatives have on improving and sustaining productive work cultures in the information technology industry for women of color?
- 2. What barriers do women of color encounter during the recruitment and selection process for technical roles?
- 3. What strategies and skill sets do you believe are necessary for women of color to succeed in the information technology industry?
- 4. What strategies have you found to be effective in attracting, engaging, and hiring women of color in the technology industry?
- 5. What can organizations do better to increase the representation of women of color in information technology?